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Our purpose is to help clients meet their financial objectives.

Our goal is to be the best in what we do as individuals and as a firm.

Our ideas should be innovative yet appropriate for our clients’ needs.

Our execution shall be seamless.

Our service should be par excellence.

Our integrity will not be compromised.

We are BDO Private Bank.

Our Mission

We seek to preserve and enhance the value of our clients’ assets by 

achieving returns that outpace predefined market benchmarks.

We encourage diversification among asset classes and individual 

securities to mitigate price/market volatility. With these, we seek to grow 

and protect our clients’ wealth for the enjoyment of their successors and 

their heirs.

We customize investment strategies to address each client’s unique 

circumstances, as well as specific preferences for income,

liquidity and risk.

Where appropriate, we pursue cross-border investment opportunities to 

enhance returns and provide additional diversification.

CORPORATE MISSION

Our Philosophy
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Our Commitment

Our commitment to provide the best financial service to our clients 

requires us to be prudent in our design of financial solutions.

We undertake to render proper due diligence, objective valuation and full 

disclosure of material information. Through this process, we apply global 

standards in creating active markets for instruments we sponsor and 

offer to our clients.

Our product offerings are based on an open product architecture model,

where clients are offered the best available products regardless of

provider, an approach geared towards delivering the highest possible

returns to each of our client groups.

In all these, we anchor our commitment on a solid base, a sound balance

sheet and a strong team of professionals.

To Clients:

• Deliver high value products and quality service
• Offer innovative solutions to specific needs
• Provide timely advice and investment/market information

To Shareholders:

• Maximize return on investment
• Manage our business with the highest professional, 
   ethical and moral standards 
• Pursue opportunities that improve shareholder value

To Associates:

• Create a responsive environment that promotes teamwork
• Recognize individual worth and contribution
• Maintain and enhance the intellectual capital of our associates
   through rigorous and relevant training and education
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MESSAGE from the CHAIRPERSON

“We expand and deepen our 
client relationships with our 
advisory service on wealth 
preservation, consolidation 
and multigenerational 
transfer of wealth.”
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Dear clients and shareholders,

Sincerely,

Teresita T. Sy

BDO Private Bank is built on a fiduciary-minded foundation that provides bespoke solutions for clients seeking alternative 

investments through an open architecture platform the Bank is known for.

At the same time, we expand and deepen our client relationships with our advisory service on wealth preservation, 

consolidation and multigenerational transfer of wealth.

We understand that our success is measured by our ability to generate superior risk adjusted returns for our clients over 

the long term. As such, we made significant investments in our business with a great amount of discipline on portfolio 

management, capital market research, and risk management.

We have also put together the best people and technology to differentiate our capabilities, deliver exceptional service and 

provide superior investment advice to our clients for generations to come.

I am confident we can do better in private banking in the coming year.
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MESSAGE from the PRESIDENT

“We vow to continue to lead 
in the domestic private 
banking market and bring 
you to the achievement of 
your goals.” 



9www.bdo.com.ph

To our shareholders and clients,

The year 2012 proved to be a banner year for BDO Private Bank as we experienced a significant increase in both our client 
base and assets under management, driving to outstanding levels performance numbers that were beyond our
projected targets.

This growth, fueled by selective prudent investments, prevailed over the lower interest rate environment and prolonged 
stagnation in the world’s major economies. As the world’s attention turned to the steady growth of emerging Asia and its 
largely untapped financial markets, the business of private banking and wealth management became even
more robust.

Although each year brings with it unique challenges for BDO Private Bank, this year reaffirmed the veracity of the path 
we took and the soundness of the philosophies on which we based our business model. Our focus remained clear: create 
customized wealth management solutions by accessing domestic and global opportunities across asset classes
and institutions.

Your trust and confidence is reflected in better-than-target assets under our management: an increase of 21.5% from 2011 
in yearend levels, and an increase of 25.4% from 2011 in average levels. In all, this translates to better financial results in 
2012 for both our shareholders and our clients.

We were able to achieve significant returns for you despite the hurdles brought on by regulations that make the creation 
and operation of trusts a more difficult task. Our unique and real private banking focus, one that is objective- and advisory-
driven, propelled us to even greater heights both in securing your confidence and earning the acclaim of our peers.  The 
significant activity in our bespoke trust increased our client managed and administered assets by over 40%, further 
strengthening long-term client relationships with the Bank.

In our steadfast adherence to our philosophy, the numbers bear us out: fees and other income derived from our wealth 
management and private banking activities increased by 24.1% from 2011, and total bank net income after taxes and 
provisions now stands at PhP480.12 million, bringing our return on equity for shareholders to a healthy 9.2%.
 
Despite the new entrants, we remain the preferred private bank, as evidenced by the 24.3% increase in our client base. We 
retain our leadership by being able to deliver to you access to various asset classes, each according to your unique needs. 
Our open architecture platform enabled us to capitalize on multi-asset and multi-market strategies in order to achieve your 
financial and estate planning goals. 

Our peers and regional industry observers affirm us in their recognition: BDO Private Bank has been named the best local 
private bank in the Philippines for five consecutive years by Euromoney , Finance Asia and Alpha Southeast Asia, and the 
best private bank and wealth management house in the Philippines, also for four consecutive years by The Asset
Triple A Awards.

We continue to strengthen our objective-driven wealth advisory services and the pursuit of customized multi-asset 
strategies. We continue to deepen and grow our expertise in consolidating, preserving and transfer of wealth across 
generations, and put at your disposal the onshore and cross-border solutions that only a strong organization can deliver. 

As we savor the successes of 2012, we vow to continue to lead in the domestic private banking market and bring you to the 
achievement of your goals.

Yours Sincerely,

Josefina N. Tan
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THE STORY

Being at the right place, at the right 

time, means very little if you are not 

armed with the right mindset.

BDO Private Bank set out to 

define private banking and wealth 

management as one that is client-

driven. Eschewing the traditional 

notions of a wealth manager as merely 

the buyer and seller of investments, 

we instead introduced a unique 

business model that puts the client at 

the center of the relationship.

With global economic performance 

slipping to 3% due to recovery from 

heavy debt burdens by countries like 

the Unites States, European Union and 

Japan, the Philippines’ GDP growth of 

6.6% bucked the global trend due to 

strong inflows and robust activity in 

the construction, housing and financial 

sectors.   This however resulted in a 

sharp drop in local interest rates and a 

6.7% appreciation of the Peso (against 

the US Dollar).

Despite the low interest rate 

environment, the Philippine Stock 

Market, a barometer of future 

expectations and investors’ confidence 

in the general economy, soared more 

than 30% - one of the best global stock 

market performers for 2012.

BDO Private Bank has calibrated 

its strategy for clients to capitalize 

on themes such as global economic 

recovery, emerging market asian 

growth, and a Philippines realizing 

itself as an asian tiger economy.

As wealth grows in the Philippines, 

BDO Private Bank leads the way 

in defining private banking and 

wealth management, one that 

adopts a relationship mindset and is 

unencumbered by

product-centric banking.

Recognition from our peers and the 

regional trade press has reaffirmed 

what we believed from the very 

beginning: that real private banking 

is one that creates long-term client 

relationships, crafts custom-made 

engagements and employs the best 

resources available to serve the needs 

of clients.

BDO Private Bank

Right time, right place, and 
the right philosophy
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BDO Private Bank’s focus on 

building relationships with each 

client is evidenced in its advisory-

driven services that keep the 

client’s objectives always in sight. 

This it accomplishes by crafting 

the engagement according to the 

client’s preferred approach:

For clients who would rather 

dedicate themselves to their 

work, BDO Private Bank creates 

a customized portfolio that 

addresses investment goals 

and takes into account his risk 

appetites, leaving him to pursue

his passions.

For clients who want to be more 

actively involved, they can select 

their investments and avail of the 

advice of our wealth managers. 

The bank’s resources and expertise 

remain at the client’s disposal.

For clients who are independent 

and well-versed in managing 

their own finances, BDO Private 

Bank can provide the platform to 

execute strategies. Investment 

decisions are made by the client, 

with the bank providing the 

necessary services of recording, 

settlement and custody

of investments.

BDO Private Bank pioneered the 

Open Architecture philosophy 

in the domestic market. This 

allows clients access to the 

best instruments for his needs, 

regardless of provider. In the 

meantime, this enables us to look 

at every client not as a source 

of retail business for the bank’s 

products, but as one that should 

have the various resources and 

expertise of the bank at

his disposal.

This approach allows us to 

maintain the highest levels of 

client experience, shortening 

significantly the feedback loop, 

and ensuring that we respond 

immediately and accurately to the 

client’s needs, every time with a 

precise and appropriate solution.

A Bespoke Private
Banking Experience

Our Expertise
at Your Disposal
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THE STORY

BDO Private Bank looks at how it 
can build a long-term relationship 
with its clients. This is evinced 
by comprehensive services that 
call for engagements that span 
generations within a single client’s 
family.

If you still want to take an active 
role in managing your investments 
and assets, BDO Private Bank 
can assist you through its Asset 
Consolidation services and help 
you keep track of your wealth.

If you have a vast amount of wealth 
to manage, BDO Private Bank can 
provide a more comprehensive 
and integrated service to manage 
your extensive capital and wealth. 
The bank’s Asset Administration 
service is designed to handle 
the growth of a family’s wealth, 
ensuring continuity and a smooth 
succession process.

Building Relationships

BDO Private Bank looks at each 

client as unique. There are no 

ready-made solutions for clients; 

instead, a combination and 

variation of models and tools 

are employed, depending on the 

client’s long-term-objectives. 

• Trust or Foundation. A trust 

    or foundation is a way to ensure 

    preservation and continuity of 

    your wealth through generations.

    We can act as your trustee and 

    ensure that your letter of wishes 

    are complied with.

• Corporate Structure. If utilizing  

    your assets in an operating   

    company is part of your wealth 

    management plan, we will advise 

    you on the legal structures that 

    can hold your assets, optimize 

    exposures and enhance the long-  

    term integrity of your wealth.

• Life Insurance. Insurance can be       

    an effective way of providing for 

    the future needs of your family 

    or beneficiaries. With a

    well-designed policy or special 

    needs trust, you can provide for 

    education, health care, 

    retirement, and succession.

• Advisory and Reporting. 

    Whatever you do with your 

    wealth has certain implications; 

    tax, legal or reporting. Our 

    advisors are here to inform 

    you of the relevant laws and  

    regulations to ensure that your    

    wealth plan is compliant

    and sustainable.

Legacy Solutions
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The success of our engagement 

with clients is likewise measured 

in how we are able to deliver on 

their objectives. For some clients, 

it will be about the performance 

and profitability of their portfolio. 

For others it will be these, plus 

the depth and breadth of the 

relationship that we have built with 

them. And then there are those 

whose success with us is measured 

in how well we take care of the 

generations to come.

BDO Private Bank, from its 

inception, was given a structure 

that allows it to be as nimble and 

responsive as possible to its clients. 

It was through the careful thought 

put into what real private banking 

should be that we are now able to 

deliver on the promise of helping 

you, our clients, achieve your goals, 

innovatively, seamlessly, with the 

utmost privacy, integrity

and excellence.

Measuring Success
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BOARD of DIRECTORS

Teresita T. Sy
CHAIRPERSON

62 years old, Filipino, is also the Chairperson of 

BDO and was first elected to the Board in 1997.  

Concurrently, she serves as the Chairperson, 

Vice Chairperson, and/or Director of various 

subsidiaries and affiliates of BDO such as BDO 

Leasing & Finance, Inc., BDO Capital & Investment 

Corporation, BDO Foundation, Inc., Generali 

Pilipinas Holding Company, Inc., Generali Pilipinas 

Life Assurance Company, Inc., and Generali 

Pilipinas Insurance Co., Inc. Ms. Sy is the Vice 

Chairperson of SM Investments Corporation and 

adviser to the Board of SM Prime Holdings, Inc. 

She also sits as Chairperson, Vice Chairperson 

and/or Director of such companies as Multi-Realty 

Development Corporation, Bellshare Holdings, 

Inc. (formerly SM Commercial Properties, Inc.), 

SM Mart, Inc., SM Retail, Inc., Prime Metroestate 

Inc. (formerly Pilipinas Makro, Inc.), and First 

Asia Realty Development Corp. A graduate of 

Assumption College, she brings to the board her 

varied expertise in banking and finance, retail 

merchandising, mall and real estate development.



17www.bdo.com.ph

Nestor V. Tan
VICE CHAIRMAN

Josefina N. Tan
DIRECTOR and PRESIDENT

54 years old, Filipino, is also President 

of BDO since July 1998. He also 

concurrently holds vice chairmanships 

and/or directorships in the following 

subsidiaries of BDO Unibank, 

Inc.: BDO Capital & Investment 

Corporation, BDO Insurance Brokers, 

Inc., BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc., 

BDO Remit (USA), Inc., Generali 

Pilipinas Life Assurance Company, 

Inc., and SM Keppel Land, Inc. He 

also concurrently holds chairmanship 

of BDO Strategic Holdings, Inc. 

and Megalink, Inc. He is Director 

and Treasurer of Generali Pilipinas 

Insurance Co., and Trustee of

BDO Foundation, Inc. He is also a 

director of the Bankers Association of

the Philippines. Mr. Tan had a fifteen-

year banking career with the Mellon

Bank (now Bank of New York – Mellon) 

in Pittsburgh, PA, the Bankers Trust

Company (now Deutsche Bank) in 

New York, and the Barclays Group in 

New York and London. Prior to joining 

the Bank, he was the Chief Operating 

Officer for the Financial Institution 

Services of BZW, the investment 

banking subsidiary of the Barclays 

Group. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in 

Commerce from De La Salle University 

and received his MBA from Wharton 

School, University of Pennsylvania.

67 years old, Filipino, is also a director 

of BDO. She is also the Chairman of 

the Board of Miriam College and a 

Trustee of the Development Center 

for Finance, Laura Vicuña Foundation 

and Finex Foundation. She was also 

Executive Vice President of the 

former Far East Bank & Trust Co.; 

Director and President of FEB Leasing 

& Finance Corp.; Executive Director 

and Trustee of FEB Foundation, Inc.; 

and Executive Vice President of FEB 

Investments, Inc. until 2000. She was 

a Director of Equitable PCI Bank, Inc. 

from September 2005 until its merger 

with BDO in May 2007.
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BOARD of DIRECTORS

60 years old, Filipino. She is also 

a Director of SM Development 

Corporation (SMDC), Co-Chairman 

of the Board of Pico de Loro Beach 

and Country Club, Inc., Adviser to the 

Board of SM Investment Corporation 

and SM Prime Holdings, Inc., and 

the President of the SM Hotels 

& Conventions Corporation. She 

graduated with a degree in Business 

Administration from 

Maryknoll College.

Elizabeth T. Sy
DIRECTOR

Violeta O. Luym
DIRECTOR

66 years old, Filipino. She was the 

Chairperson and Director of BDO 

Securities Corp, Corporate Secretary 

of Homeworld Shopping Corporation, 

Director of BDO Capital & Investment 

Corporation, Tangiers Resources 

Corporation, and Philippine Equity 

Corporation. She was also the 

Director and Treasurer of Venture 

Vision Realty. Likewise the Director of 

Equitable Savings Bank Inc. from the 

year 2007 to 2008, of BDO Financial 

Services from 1997 to 2007, and BDO-

EPCI from 1998-2007. In the past, she 

held senior officer positions in various 

financial institutions like Security Bank 

& Trust Co., Bancom Development 

Corp., International Corporate Bank, 

and Bancom Finance Corp. She 

graduated from Assumption College 

and received her MBA from UCLA. 
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57 years old, Filipino.  He is also the 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

of Roxas Holdings, Inc., Roxaco Land 

Corp., Club Punta Fuego, Hawaiian- 

Phil. Co. and also the Director of 

Brightnote Assets Corp., Philippine 

Pedro Emilio O. Roxas 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Long Distance Telephone Company 

(PLDT) and MERALCO and acted as 

the Chairman, President, CEO of Roxas 

and Co., Inc. He holds a bachelor’s 

degree in Business Administration 

from the University of Notre Dame.

Johnip G. Cua
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

57 years old, Filipino.  He is the 

Chairman of the Corporate 

Governance Committee and member 

of the Risk Management and Audit 

Committees of the Board of Directors 

of BDO Private Bank, Inc..  He was 

past President of Procter & Gamble 

Philippines, Inc., the Chairman of the 

Board of Trustees of Xavier School, 

Inc.,  is currently the Chairman of 

the Board of the P&Gers Fund, Inc. 

and Taibrews Corporation.  He is a 

member of the Board of Trustees of 

Xavier School Educational & Trust 

Fund, and is also Director of Interbake 

Marketing Corporation, Teambake 

Marketing Corporation, Bakerson 

Corporation, and Lartisan Corporation.  

Additionally, he serves as Independent 

Director of MacroAsia Corporation, 

MacroAsia Catering Services, Inc., 

MacroAsia Airport Services Corporation, 

STI Education Systems Holdings,  and 

PhilPlans First Inc.  Mr. Cua holds 

a Bachelor of Science in Chemical 

Engineering from the University of the

Philippines, Diliman.
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BOARD of DIRECTORS

73 years old, Filipino. He serves as a 

member of the Corporate Governance 

Committee of the Board of Directors 

of BDO Private Bank, Inc.  Mr. Uy is the 

Chairman of various corporations such 

as La Filipina Uygongco Corporation, 

Capiz Sugar Central, Inc., Philippine 

Foremost Milling Corp., Excel 

Farm Corp., Amigo Agro-Industrial 

Development Corp., and Mindanao 

Grain  Processing Corp. He is the 

Chairman of the Iloilo Economic 

Development Foundation, and a 

member of the Board of Trustees of 

Central Philippine University. He is 

also the Director of Rocka-Filipina 

Land, Inc., Tower Development Corp., 

and Steag State Power Inc. and Vice 

Chairman of Panay Power Holding 

Corporation. Mr. Uy holds a Bachelor 

of Science in Chemical 

Engineering, Magna Cum Laude, from 

the Central Philippine University.

Alfonso A. Uy
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

70 years old, Filipino. He serves as 

a member of the Trust Committee 

of the Board of Directors of 

BDO Private Bank, Inc.  He is 

currently a Director of Alsons 

Corporation, Alsons Development 

and Investment Corporation,  C. 

Alcantara and Sons, Inc., Lima 

Land, Inc., Indophil Resources 

NL, Site Group International, 

Sarangani Agricultural Co., Inc, 

Seafront Resources Corporation 

and Philodrill Corporation.  Prior 

to this, Mr. Alcantara held the 

position of Chairman and President 

Nicasio I. Alcantara
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

for various corporations such 

as Petron Corporation, Alsons 

Consolidated Resource Inc., Iligan 

Cement Corporation, Alsons Cement 

Corporation, Northern Mindanao 

Power Corporation, and Refractories 

Corporation of the Philippines. He was 

also the Director for Bank One Savings 

and Bancasia Capital Corporation. Mr. 

Alcantara holds a Masters of Business 

Administration (MBA) from Sta. Clara 

University, California, and a Bachelor 

of Science in Business Administration 

from the Ateneo de Manila University. 
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

BDO Private Bank’s corporate governance practice adheres to five (5) 

basic principles: accountability, fairness, integrity, transparency and 

performance. The Bank believes that all directors, officers and staff are 

accountable to its stakeholders for their actions guided by respect for the 

rights of the minority shareholders, integrity in everything it does, and 

transparency in all its dealings. 

Ultimately, having the highest governing standards embedded in its 

corporate way of life breeds well-motivated people with the right attitude 

and ethical behavior leading to excellent business performance. 

How the Bank practices good corporate governance is reflected in

these efforts:  

It is composed of nine (9) members, four (4) of whom are independent directors, 
and complemented by an advisory board. The directors are professionals or 
entrepreneurs from various fields of expertise and experience such as banking, 
law, accounting, merchandise marketing, bank regulation and development 
finance/international lending.

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term shareholder value of 
the institution and has the responsibility to approve, oversee and review the 
implementation of strategic objectives; financial plans and annual budgets; key 
operational initiatives; major funding and investment proposals; compliance 
and accountability systems; enterprise risk strategy and financial performance 
reviews to ensure the continued success of the organization. 

Of equal importance is its task to implement good corporate governance 
cascaded down to the management and employees. It ensures that the 
Organization is being run in a sound and prudent manner to fulfill its obligations 
to all majority and minority shareholders while upholding and protecting the 
interests of different constituencies. The Board holds regular quarterly meetings 
in addition to special meetings as needed. 

THE STRUCTURE

Board of Directors

Board Committees

Executive Committee The Executive Committee acts on behalf of the Board to approve board items 
which may be referred to it by Management in between regular quarterly board 
meetings.  These items include the approval of actions pertaining to Anti Money 
Laundering, Compliance, Bank Signatories, approval of manuals, policies or 
procedures and other matters of an urgent nature. 

The Board is supported by six (6) committees with their respective mandates
as follows:  

Chairperson:
Teresita T. Sy

Members:
Nestor V. Tan
Josefina N. Tan
and Elizabeth T. Sy
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Audit Committee The Audit Committee provides oversight of the Bank’s financial reporting and 
control, and of the internal and external audit functions.  To this end, it reviews 
the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls including financial, operational 
and compliance controls and risk management is conducted at least annualy. 
It monitors also the resolution of internal control weaknesses noted during 
the examination with the end view of mitigating risks and strengthening of the 
control environment. The  Committee also ensures the independence from 
management of internal audit activities.

Chairperson:
Pedro E.O. Roxas
(Independent Director) 

Members:
Johnip G. Cua
(Independent Director)
Violeta O. LuYm 

Corporate
Governance  Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee is primarily tasked to assist the Board 
in formulating the policies and overseeing the implementation of the corporate 
governance practices of the Bank.  Annually, it conducts the performance self-
evaluation of the Board of Directors, its committees, and senior management.

In 2012, an annual performance review of the Board as a whole, the Committees, 
individual directors and senior management was conducted using enhanced 
assessment questionnaires to measure their effectiveness.

Chairman:
Johnip G. Cua
(Independent Director)

Members:
Pedro E.O. Roxas
(Independent Director)
Alfonso A. Uy
(Independent Director)
Violeta O. LuYm

Risk
Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the development of 
the Bank’s risk policies, defines the appropriate strategies for identifying, 
quantifying, managing and controlling risk exposures including preventing and/or 
minimizing the impact of losses when they occur.  It oversees the implementation 
and review of the risk management plan on an integrated enterprise-wide basis, 
system of limits of management’s discretionary authority delegated by the Board 
and takes immediate corrective actions when breached. It is also responsible for 
reassessing the continued relevance, comprehensiveness and effectiveness of 
the risk management plan, and revises it when needed. 

Chairman:
Nestor V. Tan

Members: 
Johnip G. Cua
(Independent Director)
Josefina N. Tan

Trust Committee The Trust Committee reviews and approves transactions of trust and/or 
fiduciary accounts including investments, reinvestment and disposition of 
funds or property, Trust Department’s offering of new products and services, 
establishment and renewal of lines and limits with financial institutions, 
investment outlets and counterparties. It evaluates trust and other fiduciary 
accounts at least once a year and reviews the overall performance and 
accountabilities under its management, industry position, and the risk 
management reports.  

Chairperson:
Nestor V. Tan

Members:
Nicasio I. Acantara
(Independent Director)
Elizabeth T. Sy
Josefina N. Tan
Gamalielh A.O. Benavides
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Credit Committee The Credit Committee is responsible for the approval processes of the Bank’s 
loans and investments as well as other credit-related issues.  It approves credit 
and investment proposals, except those involving DOSRI or related party 
accounts, and subject to such limitations that may be imposed by the Board of 
Directors.  The Committee approves, reviews and revises credit related polices, 
procedures, and other credit risk standards.

Chairperson:
Teresita T. Sy

Members:
Nestor V. Tan
Elizabeth T. Sy
Josefina N. Tan

The Bank supports the principle and regulatory mandate of independent checks 
and balances in the institution as follows:

Independent
Checks & Balances

Internal Audit

Under the direct supervision of the Audit Committee and as approved by the 
Bangko Sentral Ng Pilipinas, the  Internal Audit function is outsourced from the 
Internal Audit Division of BDO Unibank to access, and take advantage of, the 
expertise and resources of the parent bank. 

External Audit

Compliance

Anti-Money Laundering

Punongbayan & Araullo was reappointed External Auditors of the Bank at the 
last Annual Stockholders Meeting on April 16, 2012. It presented an audit plan 
to the Board Audit Committee, performed audit risk assessment, conducted an 
independent audit of the Bank’s financial statements, rendered an opinion and 
reported the results of the audit to management and the Board of Directors.  In 
addition, it reviewed the internal audit work and compliance with accounting 
standards and regulatory requirements.

The Bank’s compliance program focused on enforcement of the Corporate 
Governance Manual, Code of Conduct, Personal Trading Policy and other 
regulatory requirements.  Reporting directly to the Audit Committee, the 
Compliance Office ensures timely submission of reports, issues advisories on new 
regulations or amendments, initiates policy pronouncements and implementation, 
engages regulators on their onsite and offsite reviews, provides training to 
employees and reports on significant compliance issues to the management and 
the Board.

The Anti-Money Laundering Unit (AMLU), which reports directly to the Audit 
Committee, handles the administration of the Bank’s compliance with the Anti-
Money Laundering Act (AMLA) and its implementing rules and regulations, 
monitoring of transactions and conduct of AML training including the customized 
e-learning AML training courses bankwide. 
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The Bank institutionalizes the highest ethical standards through the strict 
implementation of the Code of Conduct that outlines the principles and policies 
governing the activities of the institution, its directors, officers and employees.

Code of Business
Conduct & Ethics

Personal Trading Policy 

A Personal Trading Policy was put in place to regulate buying and selling of shares 
by all directors, officers and employees of the Bank to ensure that material, non-
public, price-sensitive information on shares being traded are not being used 
for personal gain. This is to eliminate the possibility, or even the appearance, of 
insider trading.

Dealing with External Constituencies

The Code of Conduct specifies the fair treatment of customers, suppliers, service 
providers, creditors, business partners and even competitors.  It prohibits the 
acceptance, directly or indirectly, of gifts and access to certain transactions or 
information where there may exist potential conflict of interest.

Responsibility to the Bank

The Code enjoins anybody who becomes aware of any violations of law, 
regulations or policies to report his suspicions to his superiors or to any of the 
designated office or individuals.

Related Party Transactions

To maintain transparency of related party transactions between and among the 
Bank and its subsidiaries, affiliated companies, directors, officers, stockholders, 
related interests (DOSRI), the Bank complies fully with the legal and regulatory 
requirements pertaining to the proper approval and disclosure of such transactions.

Policies and procedures have been put in place to manage potential conflicts of 
interest arising from related party transactions such as credit accommodations, 
products or services extended by the Bank to directors or officers in their 
personal capacity or to their company.  The Credit  Committee reviews and 
approves these transactions and endorses these to the full Board for independent 
review and confirmation.  All directors except the interested parties can scrutinize 
the transactions to ensure that these are done on an arms-length basis and in 
accordance with regulations. Approved related party transactions are properly 
tagged for monitoring and reporting.  
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Risk management begins at the highest level of the institution. At the helm is the 
Board of Directors which is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound 
risk management system.  It assumes oversight over the entire risk management 
process and takes appropriate action as necessary.

The business objective is to adequately and consistently evaluate, manage, 
control, and monitor the risk profile of the Bank to optimize the risk-reward 
balance and maximize return on capital.

BDO Private Bank is part of BDO Unibank Group’s integrated risk management 
framework which  addresses the risks which the Group faces in its banking 
activities particularly credit, market, business cycle and operational risks.  The 
approach is through alignment of risk management policies and practices across 
the Group.  

Enterprise
Risk Management

Stakeholders’ Interests Rights and Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

Customers 

Other Creditors, Counterparties and Suppliers

The Bank respects the inherent rights of shareholders in accordance with law.  To 
this end, it has put in place various practices for the convenience of shareholders 
to exercise their rights such as announcing in advance the venue, date, time and 
agenda of the annual meeting. 

The Annual Stockholders Meeting was held on April 16, 2012 and was attended by 
the Board Chair, President, all directors and chairmen of various board committees. 
The shareholders were allowed to cast their votes on each director and on each 
agenda item presented to them for approval.  They were also given the opportunity 
to ask questions, express opinions and make suggestions on various issues as 
provided for in the minutes of last year’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 

Equipped with the “We Find Ways” attitude of the BDO Unibank Group, BDO 
Private Bank is committed to meet the needs of the clients by providing them with 
high quality customer service and relevant products and services.  It continues to 
expand its network of marketing and client lounges.

The Bank is committed to meet its contractual obligations with all creditors 
and counterparties. It observes BDO Unibank-wide policies that govern the 
accreditation, selection, bidding and approval processes.  

In the conduct of its business dealings, the Bank undertakes to honor all binding 
trade related agreements and conditions on the basis of widely accepted industry 
practices, mutual understanding and cooperation with counterparties. 
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Employees 

The Bank equally gives importance to the betterment of its employees from the new 
hirees, regular officers and staff, to senior management and the board of directors. 
We continue to hold training programs covering management development, product 
orientations, compliance training (updates on Regulatory Compliance, Anti-Money 
Laundering and Corporate Governance) and behavioral courses. 

All directors were also encouraged to participate in the continuing education 
programs conducted by the Bank to promote efficiency. In 2012, Board members 
of the Bank and subsidiaries attended the training on Effective Risk Governance 
conducted by Ernst & Young. 

The Bank, through BDO Unibank-wide initiatives and programs, also provided 
free healthcare benefits and health facilities such as a fitness center and five 
medical clinics manned by occupational health practitioners.  In 2012, the 
Unibank Human Resources Group initiated various health and safety programs 
that included 20 corporate wellness lectures on various medical topics, basic 
life support training, evacuation and fire drill, preventive medical (vaccination) 
program, sports activities and a fun run participated in by 4,000 employees
of the Group.

The efforts of the Bank has earned broad and consistent recognition resulting in 
numerous awards over the years.  In 2012, the Bank was awarded the following: 
“Philippine’s Best Local Private Bank” by Euromoney, “Philippine’s Best Private 
Wealth Management House” by Alpha Southeast Asia, “Philippine’s Best Private 
Bank” by Finance Asia and “Philippine’s Best Private Bank” by Asset Asian Awards.

AWARDS
AND RECOGNITION
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AWARDS

Best Private Bank 

in the Philippines

Best Private Banking Services

Overall in the Philippines

EUROMONEY

Best Local Private Bank

in the Philippines

2009, 2010, 2012

2011

2008, 2009, 2010,

2011 & 2012
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Best Private Wealth 

Management Bank

in the Philippines

Best Private Bank

in the Philippines

Best Wealth Management

House in the Philippines

2010, 2011 & 2012

2008, 2009, 2010,

2011 & 2012

2009

2008, 2009, 2010,

2011 & 2012
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STATEMENT OF 
MANAGEMENT’S 
RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The management of BDO Private Bank, Inc. (the Bank), is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements for the years ended 

December 31, 2012 and 2011, in accordance with financial reporting standards 

in the Philippines for banks, including the following additional supplemental 

information filed separately from the basic financial statements:

a. Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration, and

b. Schedule of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and  

     Interpretations as of December 31, 2012

Management responsibility on the financial statements includes designing and 

implementing internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making 

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements, and the 

additional supplementary information, and submits the same to the stockholders.

Punongbayan & Araullo, the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, 

has examined the financial statements of the Bank in accordance with Philippine 

Standards on Auditing and, and in its report to the Board of Directors and 

stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon 

completion of such examination.

Teresita T. Sy

Chairman of the Board

   

Josefina N. Tan

President

Agnes B. Santos

First Vice President

Head – Financial Control Department
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REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BDO Private 

Bank, Inc., which comprise the statements of financial position as at 

December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the statements of income, statements 

of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements 

of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 

of these financial statements in accordance with the financial reporting 

standards in the Philippines for banks as described in Note 2 to the 

financial statements, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

 

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with 

Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply 

with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

The Board of Directors

BDO Private Bank, Inc.

(A Wholly Owned Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

2nd Floor, BDO Equitable Tower 

8751 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City
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REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of BDO Private Bank, Inc.as at

December 31, 2012 and 2011, and its financial performance and its cash 

flows for the years then ended in accordance with the financial reporting 

standards in the Philippines for banks as described in Note 2 to the

financial statements.

Emphasis of a Matter

As discussed in Note 22 to the financial statements, the Bank presented 

the supplementary information required by the Bureau of Internal 

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012 in a supplementary 

schedule filed separately from the basic financial statements.  Such 

supplementary information is the responsibility of management.  The 

supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional 

analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements 

prepared in accordance with financial reporting standards in the 

Philippines for banks; it is neither a required disclosure under the 

Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission rules and regulations 

covering the form and content of financial statements under Securities 

Regulation Code Rule 68.

PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

By:     Romualdo V. Murcia III

Partner

CPA Reg. No. 0095626

TIN 906-174-059

PTR No. 3671457, January 2, 2013, Makati City

SEC Group A Accreditation

Partner - No. 0628-AR-1 (until Aug. 25, 2013)

Firm - No. 0002-FR-3 (until Jan. 18, 2015)

BIR AN 08-002511-22-2011 (until Feb. 3, 2014)

Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2015)

February 11, 2013
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED  DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

1. CORPORATE MATTERS

 1.1 Organization and Operations

On December 22, 1995, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) authorized BDO Private Bank, 
Inc. (the Bank) to operate as a commercial bank.  The Bank was incorporated in the Philippines to 
engage in banking activities, as well as to engage in and carry on the business of a trust company 
and to operate a foreign currency deposit unit.

The Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO Unibank), a publicly listed 
bank incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines.  BDO Unibank is authorized to operate as an 
expanded commercial bank and to engage in trust and foreign currency deposit operations.

As a banking institution, the Bank’s operations are regulated and supervised by the BSP.  In this 
regard, the Bank is required to comply with the rules and regulations of the BSP such as those 
relating to maintenance of reserve requirements on deposit liabilities and deposit substitutes and 
those relating to the adoption and use of safe and sound banking practices, among others, as 
promulgated by the BSP.  The Bank is subject to the provisions of the General Banking Law of 
2000 (Republic Act No. 8791).
   
The Bank’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business, is located at the 2nd Floor, 
BDO Equitable Tower, 8751 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City.  The registered office of BDO Unibank 
is at BDO Corporate Center, 7899 Makati Avenue, Makati City.

1.2 Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2012 (including the 
comparatives for the year ended December 31, 2011) were authorized for issue by the Bank’s Board 
of Directors (BOD) on February 11, 2013.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 
statements are summarized in the succeeding page.  The policies have been consistently applied to 
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

(a) Statement of Compliance with Financial Reporting Standards in the Philippines for Banks 

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with the financial 
reporting standards in the Philippines (FRSP) for banks.  The Bank prepared its financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), except for the 
reclassification of the credit-linked notes (CLNs) that are linked to Republic of the Philippines 
(ROP) bonds without bifurcating the embedded derivatives from fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL) to unquoted debt securities classified as loans (UDSCL) that are outstanding as 
of the effective date of reclassification, which is permitted by the BSP for prudential reporting, 
and by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for financial reporting purposes.

 
PFRSs are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the 
pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by PFRS 
for each type of assets, liabilities, income and expense.  The measurement bases are more fully 
described in the accounting policies that follow.

(b) Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards in the Philippines for Banks

In 2008, the Monetary Board of the BSP approved the prudential reporting guidelines for 
banks governing the reclassification of investments in debt and equity securities between 
categories in accordance with the provisions of the October 2008 amendments to the 
Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 39 and PFRS 7, and provided additional guidelines 
(under BSP Circular No. 628) which include among others, the reclassification of CLNs and 
other similar instruments that are linked to ROP bonds: 

•	 out of the held-for-trading into available-for-sale (AFS)/held-to-maturity (HTM)/
unquoted debt securities classified as loans (UDSCL); or,

•	 from AFS to UDSCL or HTM, without bifurcating the embedded derivatives from the 
host instruments.

Provided that these shall only apply for CLNs that are outstanding as of the effective date of 
reclassification, which shall not be on or later than November 15, 2008. 

On February 2, 2009, the SEC approved the adoption of BSP Circular No. 628 as being 
compliant with generally accepted accounting principles for banks.

On May 24, 2011 and July 25, 2011, the Bank unwound the outstanding credit linked 
deposits (CLDs) and CLNs related to the reclassified securities with certain financial 
institutions amounting to P437,342,716 and P445,054,240, respectively (see Note 7.2).
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Bank has no outstanding UDSCL.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

The following reconciliations and explanatory notes thereto describe the differences on the 
2011 financial statements under FRSP and PFRS (there are no differences on the 2012 
financial statements under FRSP and PFRS): 

(i) The reconciliations of the 2011 equity reported under FRSP to equity under PFRS follow.
         
 Equity under FRSP                                                 P          5,043,756,483

 Net adjustment to equity 
   in prior year       71,490,154
  Amortization of negative fair value of 
   embedded derivative on CLN 
  reclassified to loans and
   receivables   8,986,559
  Reversal of net adjustment to 
   equity due to the unwinding
   of the CLNs  (         80,476,713 )

            -  

  Equity under PFRS    P   5,043,756,483

 
As a result of the unwinding of the CLDs and CLNs during 2011, there are no differences 
in the measurement of statement of financial position items as of December 31, 2011.

(ii) Profit or loss reported under FRSP in 2011 is reconciled to profit or loss under PFRS as 
follows (in thousand pesos):

             FRSP     Difference     PFRS  
 
 Interest income         P 1,059,123   P 8,987   P 1,068,110
 Interest expense          386,452    -     386,452

 Net interest income          672,671    8,987    681,658
 Impairment losses          1,311    -     1,311

 Net interest income after impairment losses        671,360    8,987    680,347
 Other operating income          649,568  (  80,477 )   569,091 
 Other operating expenses        (  669,792 )   -   (  669,792 )

 Income before tax          651,136  (  71,490 )   579,646 
 Tax expense          105,304    -     105,304

 Net profit         P 545,832  (P 71,490 )  P 474,342 

 
There are no differences in profit or loss reported under FRSP and PFRS in 2012 for 
reasons stated above.
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(c) Presentation of Financial Statements

The financial statements are presented in accordance with PAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements.  The Bank presents the ‘statement of comprehensive income’ in two statements: a 
“statement of income” and a “statement of comprehensive income”.

Two comparative periods are presented for the statement of financial position when the Bank 
applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement of items in its 
financial statements, or reclassifies items in the financial statements.

(d) Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s functional and 
presentation currency, and all values represent absolute amounts except when otherwise indicated.

Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using its functional 
currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Bank operates.

2.2  Adoption of New and Amended PFRS

(a) Effective in 2012 that are Relevant to the Bank

 In 2012, the FRSC has adopted several amendments to published standards.  Most of these 
amendments became effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011 or 
January 1, 2012.

  PFRS 7 (Amendment) : Financial Instruments:
           Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
  PAS 12 (Amendment) : Income Taxes – Deferred Taxes:
         Recovery of Underlying Assets

Discussed below are the relevant information about these amended standards.

 (i) PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets, 
was identified to be relevant to the Bank’s financial statements.  The amendment requires 
additional disclosures that will allow users of financial statements to understand the 
relationship between transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety 
and the associated liabilities; and, to evaluate the nature of, and risk associated with any 
continuing involvement of the reporting entity in financial assets that are derecognized 
in their entirety.  The Bank did not transfer any financial asset involving this type of 
arrangement; hence, the amendment did not result in any significant change in the 
Bank’s disclosures in its financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

(ii) PAS 12 (Amendment), Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets.  
The amendment provides an exception to the existing principle in PAS 12 that recovery 
of the carrying amount of investment property measured at fair value under PAS 40, 
Investment Property, will be or normally be through sale.  The amendment introduces 
a rebuttable presumption that the measurement of a deferred tax liability or asset on 
an investment property measured at fair value should reflect the tax consequence of 
recovering the carrying amount entirely through sale.  The presumption is rebutted for 
depreciable investment property (e.g., building) measured at fair value that is held with 
an objective to consume substantially the economic benefits embodied in the asset over 
time, rather than through sale.  As a result of the amendment, Standing Interpretation 
Committee (SIC), 21 Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets, is 
accordingly withdrawn and is incorporated under PAS 12.  The amendment has no 
impact on the Bank’s financial statements as the Bank has no investment property.

(b) Effective in 2012 that is not Relevant to the Bank

PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of PFRS, was amended to provide relief for first-time adopters 
of PFRS from having to reconstruct transactions that occurred before the date of transition 
to PFRS and to provide guidance for entities emerging from severe hyperinflation either to 
resume presenting PFRS financial statements or to present PFRS financial statements for the 
first time.  The amendment became effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 
2011 but is not relevant to the Bank’s financial statements.

(c) Effective Subsequent to 2012 but not Adopted Early

There are new PFRS, amendments, annual improvements and interpretations to existing 
standards that are effective for periods subsequent to 2012.  Management has initially 
determined the following pronouncements, which the Bank will apply in accordance with 
their transitional provisions, to be relevant to its financial statements:

(i) PAS 1 (Amendment), Financial Statements Presentation – Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income (effective from July 1, 2012).  The amendment requires an entity 
to group items presented in Other Comprehensive Income into those that, in accordance 
with other PFRSs: (a) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) will 
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met.  The 
Bank’s management expects that this will not affect the presentation of items in other 
comprehensive income, since all of the Bank’s other comprehensive income, which 
includes unrealized fair value gains and losses on AFS, can be reclassified to profit or loss 
when specified conditions are met.
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(ii) PAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits (effective from January 1, 2013).  The 
amendment made a number of changes as part of the improvements throughout the 
standard.  The main changes relate to defined benefit plans as follows: 

•	 eliminates the corridor approach under the existing guidance of PAS 19 and requires 
an entity to recognize all gains and losses arising in the reporting period;

•	 streamlines the presentation of changes in plan assets and liabilities resulting in the 
disaggregation of changes into three main components of service costs, net interest on 
net defined benefit obligation or asset, and remeasurement; and,

•	 enhances disclosure requirements, including information about the characteristics of 
defined benefit plans and the risks that entities are exposed to through participation

 in them.

Currently, the Bank is using the corridor approach and its unrecognized actuarial loss 
as of December 31, 2012 amounted to P90,260,705 (see Note 20.2) which will be 
recognized as loss in other comprehensive income in 2013 and retrospectively in
prior years.

(iii) PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (effective from January 1, 2013).  The amendment requires qualitative 
and quantitative disclosures relating to gross and net amounts of recognized financial 
instruments that are set-off in accordance with PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation.  
The amendment also requires disclosure of information about recognized financial 
instruments subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements, 
even if they are not set-off in the statement of financial position, including those which 
do not meet some or all of the offsetting criteria under PAS 32, and amounts related to a 
financial collateral.  These disclosures will allow financial statement users to evaluate the 
effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with 
recognized financial assets and financial liabilities on the entity’s financial position.  The 
Bank has initially assessed that the adoption of the amendment will not have a significant 
impact on its financial statements.

(iv) PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (effective from January 1, 2013).  This standard aims to 
improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value 
and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across 
PFRS.  The requirements do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide 
guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by 
other standards.  Management is in the process of reviewing its valuation methodologies 
for conformity with the new requirements and has yet to assess the impact of the new 
standard on the Bank’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

(v)  PAS 32 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities (effective from January 1, 2014).  The amendment provides 
guidance to address inconsistencies in applying the criteria for offsetting financial assets and 
financial liabilities.  It clarifies that a right of set-off is required to be legally enforceable, 
in the normal course of business, in the event of default and in the event of insolvency or 
bankruptcy of the entity and all of the counterparties.  The amendment also clarifies the 
principle behind net settlement and includes an example of a gross settlement system with 
characteristics that would satisfy the criterion for net settlement.  The Bank does not expect 
this amendment to have a significant impact on its financial statements.

(vi) PFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement (effective from
 January 1, 2015).  This is the first part of a new standard on classification and 

measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities that will replace PAS 39 in 
its entirety.  This chapter deals with two measurement categories for financial assets: 
amortized cost and fair value.  All equity instruments will be measured at fair value 
while debt instruments will be measured at amortized cost only if the entity is holding 
it to collect contractual cash flows which represent payment of principal and interest.  
The accounting for embedded derivatives in host contracts that are financial assets is 
simplified by removing the requirement to consider whether or not they are closely 
related, and, in most arrangement, does not require separation from the host contract.  

 For liabilities, the standard retains most of the PAS 39 requirements which include 
amortized-cost accounting for most financial liabilities, with bifurcation of embedded 
derivatives.  The main change is that, in case where the fair value option is taken for 
financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is 
recorded in other comprehensive income rather than in profit or loss, unless this creates 
an accounting mismatch. 

 To date, other chapters of PFRS 9 dealing with impairment methodology and hedge 
accounting are still being completed.

 The Bank does not expect to implement and adopt PFRS 9 until its effective date or 
until all chapters of this new standard have been published.  In addition, management is 
currently assessing the impact of PFRS 9 on the financial statements of the Bank and is 
committed to conduct a comprehensive study of the potential impact of this standard in 
2012 to assess the impact of all changes.
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(vii) 2009-2011 Annual Improvements to PFRS.  Annual improvements to PFRS (2009-
2011 Cycle) made minor amendments to a number of PFRS, which are effective for 
annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Among those improvements, 
the following amendments are relevant to the Bank but management does not expect a 
material impact on the Bank’s financial statements:

(a) PAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements – Clarification of 
the Requirements for Comparative Information.  The amendment clarifies the 
requirements for presenting comparative information for the following:

•	 Requirements for opening statement of financial position 

 If an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively, or makes a retrospective 
restatement or reclassification of items that has a material effect on the 
information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the 
preceding period (i.e., opening statement of financial position), it shall present 
such third statement of financial position. 

 Other than disclosure of certain specified information in accordance with 
PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, related 
notes to the opening statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 
preceding period are not required to be presented.

•	 Requirements for additional comparative information beyond minimum requirements

 If an entity presented comparative information in the financial statements 
beyond the minimum comparative information requirements, the additional 
financial statements information should be presented in accordance with 
PFRS including disclosure of comparative information in the related notes for 
that additional information.  Presenting additional comparative information 
voluntarily would not trigger a requirement to provide a complete set of 
financial statements.

(b) PAS 32 (Amendment), Financial Instruments – Presentation – Tax Effect of 
Distributions to Holders of Equity Instruments.  The amendment clarifies that 
the consequences of income tax relating to distributions to holders of an equity 
instrument and to transaction costs of an equity transaction shall be accounted 
for in accordance with PAS 12, Income Taxes.  Accordingly, income tax relating to 
distributions to holders of an equity instrument is recognized in profit or loss while 
income tax related to the transaction costs of an equity transaction is recognized

 in equity.
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2.3 Financial Instruments

 2.3.1 Financial Assets

 Financial assets are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual terms of the 
financial instrument.  Financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments are classified into the following categories: financial assets at FVTPL, loans and 
receivables, HTM investments and AFS securities.  Financial assets are assigned to the different 
categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. 

 Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date.  All financial 
assets that are not classified as at FVTPL are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs.  Financial assets carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair 
value and transaction costs related to it are recognized in profit or loss.

 The foregoing categories of financial instruments are more fully described below.

(a) Financial Assets at FVTPL 

This category includes financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or that 
meets certain conditions and are designated by the entity to be carried at fair value through 
profit or loss upon initial recognition.  All derivatives fall into this category, except for those 
designated and effective as hedging instruments.  

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized 
in profit or loss.  Financial assets (except derivatives and financial instruments originally 
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) may be reclassified out of fair 
value through profit or loss category effective July 1, 2008: 

 
      i.  only in rare circumstances and if there is a change in intention (i.e., the financial asset is  

  no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near future);

     ii.  if the financial asset would have met the definition of loans and receivables and if the   
     financial asset had not been required to be classified as held for trading at initial  
     recognition and the entity has the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the  
     foreseeable future or until maturity; and 

    iii. for CLNs and derivatives embedded in CLNs linked to ROP bonds as permitted by BSP  
  for prudential regulation and by the SEC for financial reporting purposes.
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(b) Loans and Receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market.  They arise when the Bank provides money, goods or 
services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables.  

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, less impairment loss, if any.  Impairment loss is provided when there is objective 
evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the 
original terms of the receivables.  The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the 
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.

The Bank’s financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are presented as Cash and 
Cash Equivalents and Loans and Receivables in the statement of financial position.  Cash and 
cash equivalents are defined as cash and non-restricted balances with the BSP and amounts 
due from other banks.

(c) HTM Investments

This category includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and a fixed date of maturity that the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity.  Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in 
this classification.  If the Bank were to sell other than an insignificant amount of HTM 
investments, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as AFS financial assets.  
The Bank currently holds listed sovereign and corporate bonds designated into this category.

Subsequent to initial recognition, HTM investments are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less impairment losses, if any.  Impairment loss, which is the 
difference between the carrying value and the present value of estimated cash flows of the 
investment, is recognized when there is objective evidence that the investment has
been impaired.  

(d) AFS Securities  

This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this 
category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets.
The Bank’s AFS securities include listed and unquoted equity securities, sovereign
and corporate bonds.

All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and 
losses from changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income and are 
reported as part of Unrealized Fair Value Gains (Losses) on AFS Securities in equity.  When 
the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative fair value 
gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit 
or loss and is presented as a reclassification adjustment within other comprehensive income. 
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Reversal of impairment losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, except for 
financial assets that are debt securities which are recognized in profit or loss only if the reversal 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognized.

For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined by 
reference to exchange-quoted market closing or bid prices at the close of business on the reporting 
period.  For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by 
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is 
calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.

Non-compounding interest, dividend income and other cash flows resulting from holding financial 
assets are recognized in profit or loss when earned, regardless of how the related carrying amount of 
financial assets is measured.

The financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets and all substantial risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred. 

2.3.2 Derivative Financial Instruments

The Bank is a party to various foreign currency forward contracts, cross-currency and interest rate 
swaps, and CDS.  These contracts are entered into as a service to customers and as a means of 
reducing or managing the Bank’s foreign exchange and interest rate exposure as well as for
trading purposes. 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value except for CDS embedded in CLNs linked 
to ROP bonds which the Bank reclassified to loans and receivables together with the host contract 
without bifurcating the embedded derivative component (see Note 2.1).  Fair values are obtained 
from quoted market prices in active markets and valuation techniques, including discounted cash 
flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate.  All derivatives are carried as assets when 
fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e., 
the fair value of the consideration given or received) unless the fair value of that instrument is 
evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument 
(i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable markets.  When such evidence exists, the Bank recognizes the 
profit on day one.
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For more complex instruments, the Bank uses proprietary models, which usually are developed 
from recognized valuation models.  Some or all of the inputs into these models may not be 
market observable, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on 
assumptions.  When entering into a transaction, the financial instrument is recognized initially at 
the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value, although the value obtained from 
the valuation model may differ from the transaction price.  This initial difference, usually an 
increase, in fair value indicated by valuation techniques is recognized in profit or loss depending 
upon the individual facts and circumstances of each transaction and not later than when the 
market data becomes observable.

The value produced by a model or other valuation technique is adjusted to allow for a number 
of factors as appropriate, because valuation techniques cannot appropriately reflect all factors 
market participants take into account when entering into a transaction.  Valuation adjustments 
are recorded to allow for model risks, bid-ask spreads, liquidity risks, and other factors.  

Management believes that these valuation adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly 
state financial instruments carried at fair value on the statement of financial position.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as CDS in a CLN, are treated 
as separate derivatives (except for CDS embedded in CLNs linked to ROP bonds which the 
Bank reclassified to loans and receivables together with the host contract) when their economic 
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract 
is not carried at fair value through profit or loss.  These embedded derivatives are measured at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognized as part of Trading and Securities Gain in profit or loss.  
The change in fair value of derivative financial instruments is recognized in profit or loss except 
when their effect qualifies as hedging instrument.

 
2.3.3 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement 
of financial position when there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the 
related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statement of financial position.

 2.3.4 Sale and Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (such as Securities Purchased Under Reverse 
Repurchase Agreements) are recorded at fair value through profit or loss.  The Bank enters into 
short-term purchases of securities under reverse repurchase agreements of substantially identical 
securities with the BSP.  Interest earned on resale agreements are reported as interest income. 
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 2.3.5 Impairment of Financial Assets

The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(a “loss event”) and that loss event (events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data 
that comes to the attention of the Bank about certain loss events, including, among others: 
significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; a breach of contract, such as a default 
or delinquency in interest or principal payments; it is probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since 
the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the 
individual financial assets in the group. 

(a) Assets Carried at Amortized Cost

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, 
it includes the asset in a group of financial asset with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a 
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans or HTM investments carried 
at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit loss that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the profit or loss.  If 
loans or HTM investments have a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.  As a 
practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair 
value using an observable market price.
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For the purpose of collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the 
basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that 
considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other 
relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows 
for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment 
are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Bank and historical 
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank.  Historical 
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to 
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally 
consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, 
changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of 
changes in the probability of losses in the group and their magnitude).  The methodology and 
assumptions used for estimated future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce 
any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment.  
Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 
amount of the loss has been determined.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in profit
or loss.

If in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as 
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed by adjusting the allowance account.  The amount of the reversal is recognized in profit 
or loss.

(b) Assets Carried at Fair Value

The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  In the case of equity investments 
classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of security below its cost 
is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired.  If any such evidence exists for 
AFS securities, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost 
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized 
in profit or loss – is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.  
Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss on equity instruments are not reversed through 
profit or loss.  If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as AFS 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
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(c) Assets Carried at Cost

The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that 
any of the unquoted equity securities and derivative assets linked to and required to be settled 
in such unquoted equity instruments, which are carried at cost may be impaired.  The amount 
of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount of the equity security and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return 
of a similar asset.  Impairment losses on assets carried at cost cannot be reversed.

2.3.6 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable, derivative financial liabilities and other 
liabilities except taxes payable, retirement benefit obligation and deferred gain on bond exchange.

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual agreements of 
the instrument.  All interest-related charges are recognized as interest expense in profit or loss.

Deposit liabilities and bills payable are recognized initially at fair value, which is the issue proceeds 
(fair value of consideration received) net of direct issue costs. These are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost; any difference between proceeds, net of transaction costs and the redemption value is 
recognized in the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently valued at fair 
value with changes in fair value charged to statement of income except for CDS embedded in 
CLNs linked to ROPs which the Bank reclassified to loans and receivables together with the
host contract.

Other liabilities are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost less settlement payments.

Dividend distributions to shareholders are recognized as financial liabilities when the dividends are 
approved by the BOD and the BSP.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only when the 
obligations are extinguished either through discharge, cancellation or expiration.

2.4 Prepayments and Other Resources

Prepayments and other resources pertain to other assets controlled by the Bank as a result of past 
events.  They are recognized in the financial statement when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits will flow to the entity and the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.
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 2.5 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset 
to working condition for its intended use.  Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals 
are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  
When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and their related accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is 
reflected in income for the period.

   
Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of three to five 
years for the Bank’s furniture, fixtures and equipment.

   
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of 
the improvements, whichever is shorter.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.12).

The residual values and estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of income in 
the year the item is derecognized. 

2.6 Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic 
resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still 
be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment 
that has resulted from past events. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, 
based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, including the 
risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Where there are a number of 
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole.  When time value of money is material, long-term 
provisions are discounted to their present values using a pretax rate that reflects market assessments 
and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognized as interest expense.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is 
considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, 
no liability is recognized in the financial statements. Similarly, possible inflows of economic 
benefits to the Bank that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered 
contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements.  On the other hand, any 
reimbursement that the Bank can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to 
the obligation is recognized as a separate asset not exceeding the amount of the related provision.

2.7 Related Party Relationships and Transactions

Related party transactions consist of transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Bank 
and its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Related 
parties include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, 
control or are controlled by, or under common control with the Bank; (b) associates; and, (c) 
individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Bank that gives 
them significant influence over the Bank and close members of the family of any such individual.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship and not merely on the legal form.

2.8 Equity

Preferred and common stocks represent the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Surplus reserves pertain to appropriations for general loan losses computed based on existing BSP 
regulations on loan loss provisioning prior to the adoption of PAS 39 and trust reserves computed 
based on existing BSP regulation.

Surplus free includes all current and prior period results as reported in the statement of income.

Unrealized fair value gains (losses) on AFS securities pertain to mark-to-market valuation of
AFS securities.

Cumulative translation adjustment represents foreign exchange differences arising on the 
translation of the Bank’s Foreign Currency Deposit Unit (FCDU) using the Philippine Dealing 
System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period.  
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2.9 Revenue and Cost Recognition

 Revenue comprises revenue from interest, service charges, fees and commissions, and trading and 
securities gain.

 Revenue is recognized to the extent that the revenue can be reliably measured; it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the Bank; and the costs incurred or to be incurred can be 
measured reliably.  In addition, the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognized.

2.9.1 Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss for all instruments measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset 
or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.  
The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an 
impairment loss, interest income is recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future 
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.9.2 Service Charges, Fees and Commissions

Service charges, fees and commissions are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service 
has been provided.  Commission and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation 
of, a transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement of the acquisition of debt instruments or 
other securities – are recognized on completion of the underlying transaction.  Other service fees are 
recognized based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-appropriate basis.  

2.9.3 Trading and Securities Gain

Trading and securities gain is recognized when the ownership of the security is transferred to the 
buyer and is computed as the difference between the selling price and the carrying amount of the 
security.  Trading and securities gain also includes results from the mark-to-market valuation of the 
securities at the end of each reporting period.
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2.10 Leases

Leases, which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of 
the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as maintenance and 
insurance, are expensed as incurred.

   
 2.11 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The books of accounts of the Regular Banking Unit (RBU) are maintained in Philippine peso, 
while those of the FCDU are maintained in United States Dollar (USD). 

(a) RBU 

As at end of each reporting period, foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and 
liabilities of the RBU are translated in Philippine peso based on the PDS closing rate prevailing 
at end of the year and foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the exchange 
rate at the PDS closing rate prevailing at the time of transaction.  Foreign exchange differences 
arising from restatement of foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities in the RBU are 
credited to or charged against current operations in the year in which the rates change.  

(b) FCDU 

As at end of each reporting period, the assets, liabilities, income and expense of the Bank’s 
FCDU are translated into the Bank’s presentation currency (the Philippine peso) using PDS 
closing rate prevailing at the end of reporting period, and their prior year income retained 
under FCDU are translated at the PDS closing year of the end of the reporting period it was 
earned.  Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to a separate component 
of equity under ‘Cumulative Translation Adjustment’.
 

2.12 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment and other resources are subject to impairment 
testing whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset or cash-generating unit’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of 
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal 
discounted cash flow evaluation.  Impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the 
cash-generating unit.  
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All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized 
may no longer exist and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the recoverable amount 
resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.

 
2.13  Employee Benefits

(a) Post-employment Benefit Obligations 

Post-employment benefits are provided to employees through a defined benefit plan, as well as 
a defined contribution plan.

(i) Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an 
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, 
years of service and salary.  The legal obligation for any benefits from this kind of pension 
plan remains with the Bank, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have 
been acquired.  Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit 
fund, as well as qualifying insurance policies.  The Bank’s defined benefit pension plan 
covers all regular full-time employees.  The pension plan is tax-qualified, non-contributory 
and administered by a trustee.  

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the end of reporting period date 
less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains 
or losses and past service costs.  The DBO is calculated by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method.  The present value of the DBO is determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognized as an expense unless the total unrecognized 
gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the obligation and related plan assets.  The 
amount exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited to profit or loss over the 
employees’ expected average remaining working lives.  Actuarial gains and losses within 
the 10% corridor are disclosed separately.  Past-service costs are recognized immediately 
in the statement of income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this 
case, the past service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

(ii) Defined Benefit Contribution Plan

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed 
contributions into an independent entity such as the Social Security System.  The Bank has 
no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed 
contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of defined contribution plans are 
expensed as they fall due.  
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(b) Profit-sharing and Bonus Plans

The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a 
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after 
certain adjustments.  The Bank recognizes a provision where it is contractually obliged to pay 
the benefits, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(c) Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday 
entitlement) remaining at the end of reporting period.  They are included in the Accrued Taxes 
and Other Liabilities account at the undiscounted amount that the Bank expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement.

2.14 Income Taxes

Current income tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal 
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the 
end of the reporting period.  They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable 
to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.  All changes to 
current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.

Under the liability method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in 
the statement of income.  Only changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities that relate to a change in 
value of assets or liabilities that is charged to other comprehensive income or directly to equity are 
charged to other comprehensive income or credited directly to equity.
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2.15 Trust Operations

The Bank commonly acts as trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding 
or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, post-employment benefit plans and other 
institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, 
as they are not assets of the Bank.

2.16 Events After the End of Reporting Period

Any post-year-end event that provides additional information about the Bank’s financial position at 
the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) is reflected in the financial statements.
Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the
financial statements.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Bank’s financial statements prepared in accordance with FRSP for banks require management 
to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 
and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may likely differ from these estimates and the 
differences could be significant.

3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements:

(a) Classifying Financial Assets as HTM Investments

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
in classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity as held-to-maturity.  This classification requires significant judgment.  In making 
this judgment, the Bank considers its intention and ability to hold such investments to 
maturity.  If the Bank fails to keep these investments at maturity (other than for the allowed 
specific circumstances, for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity), it 
will be required to reclassify the entire class to available-for-sale securities.  The investments 
would therefore be measured at fair value and not at amortized cost.  However, the tainting 
provision will not apply if the sales or reclassifications of HTM investments are so close to 
maturity or the financial asset’s call date that changes in the market rate of interest would not 
have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value; occur after the Bank has collected 
substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal through scheduled payments or 
prepayments; or are attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the control of the Bank, is 
nonrecurring and could not have been reasonably anticipated by the Bank.  If the entire class 
of HTM investments is tainted, the fair value would have increased by P451.1 million in 2012 
and P343.8 million in 2011, with a corresponding entry in the Unrealized Fair Value Gains 
(Losses) on AFS Securities account in the statement of changes in equity (see Note 8).
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(b) Impairment of AFS Financial Assets

The Bank follows the guidance of PAS 39 in determining when an investment is permanently 
impaired.  This determination requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, the 
Bank evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an 
investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for 
the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology 
and operational and financing cash flow.

Based on the recent evaluation of information and circumstances affecting the Bank’s AFS 
financial assets, management concluded that certain assets are collectively impaired as of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 (see Note 7).  Future changes in those information and 
circumstances might significantly affect the carrying amount of the assets.

(c)  Distinction between Operating and Finance Leases

The Bank has entered into various lease agreements as a lessee.  Critical judgment was exercised 
by management to distinguish each lease agreement as either an operating or finance lease 
by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the 
properties covered by the agreements.  Failure to make the right judgement will result in either 
overstatement or understatement of assets and liabilities. 

  
(d) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.  
Policies on recognition and disclosure of provisions and contingencies are discussed in Note 2.6 
and relevant disclosures are presented in Note 26.

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of resources and liabilities within the next financial year:

(a) Impairment Losses on Financial Assets (Loans and Receivables, HTM Investments
 and AFS Securities)

The Bank reviews its loans and receivables, HTM investments and AFS securities portfolios 
to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis.  In determining whether an impairment 
loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Bank makes judgments as to whether there is 
any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from the portfolio before the decrease can be identified with an individual item in that 
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portfolio.  This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse 
change in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in a group, or national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group.  Management uses estimates 
based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective 
evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.  
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future 
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual 
loss experience.

The Bank carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires the extensive use of 
accounting estimates and judgment.  Significant components of fair value measurement were 
determined using verifiable objective evidence such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
volatility rates.  However, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Bank utilized 
different valuation methods and assumptions.  Any change in fair value of these financial 
resources and liabilities would affect profit or loss and equity.

Details of impairment losses (recovery from impairment) recognized by the Bank on its 
financial assets are presented below.

        Notes   2012   2011 

    HTM investments                            8              P 21,852,037    (P    41,395,481 )
 AFS securities   9    -     (  76,716,633 )
 Loans and receivables  7  (  21,014,433 )   119,422,767

     P 837,604 P   1,310,653

(b)  Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following tables summarize the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets 
and liabilities not presented in the Bank’s statements of financial position at their fair values.  

  2012 
  Carrying  
  Amount   Fair Value 

 Financial Assets
 Due from BSP   P 5,144,826,501  P 5,144,826,501
 Due form other banks    888,988,779   888,988,779
  AFS securities – at cost    5,500,100   5,500,100
  HTM investments            7,312,489,139   7,763,596,137

 Loans and other receivables
  Receivable from customers    2,565,771,731   2,746,802,211
  Other receivables    6,951,303   6,951,303

 Other resources    65,883,597   65,883,597

 Financial Liabilities
  Deposit liabilities          13,214,420,081   13,244,016,466
  Bills payable      1,027,550,426   1,027,550,426
  Other Liabilities    117,472,235   117,472,235
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   2011 
  Carrying 
  Amount   Fair Value 

 Financial Assets
 Due from BSP   P 7,092,895,832  P 7,092,895,832
 Due from other Banks    1,199,727,734   1,199,727,734
  AFS securities – at cost    5,500,100   5,500,100
  HTM investments            7,881,191,122    8,224,955,755

 Loans and other receivables
  Receivable from customers           1,528,048,435   1,671,353,223
  Other receivables    5,873,061   5,873,061 
 Other resources    47,386,402   47,386,402 

 Financial Liabilities
  Deposit liabilities         21,384,930,431   21,309,895,428 
  Bills Payable     1,538,408   1,403,478

  Other liabilities  171,097,125  171,097,125

(i) Due from other banks and BSP
Due from BSP pertains to deposits made by the Bank to BSP for clearing, reserve 
requirements and placement of excess liquidity in Special Deposit Account.  Due from 
others banks include interbank placements and items in the course of collection.  The 
fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is their carrying amount.  
The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash 
flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and 
remaining maturity, which for short-term deposits approximates the nominal value. 

(ii) AFS securities
The fair value of AFS securities is determined by direct reference to published price quoted 
in an active market for traded securities.  On the other hand, non-quoted AFS securities 
are carried at cost because the fair value cannot be reliably determined either by reference 
to similar financial instruments or through valuation technique.  

(iii) HTM investments
Fair value for HTM assets is based on market prices.  Where this information is not 
available, fair value has been estimated using quoted market prices for securities with 
similar credit, maturity and yield characteristics or through valuation techniques using 
discounted cash flow analysis. 

 (iv) Loans and other receivables
Loans and other receivables are presented net of provisions for impairment, if any.  The 
estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents the discounted amount of estimated 
future cash flows expected to be received.  Expected cash flows are discounted at current 
market rates to determine fair value. 
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 (v)  Deposits and borrowings
The estimated fair value of demand deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-
interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.  The estimated fair value of 
long-term negotiable certificates of deposits and other borrowings without quoted market 
price is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar 
remaining maturity. 

For financial instruments that are liquid or which have relatively short-term maturities (less 
than 3 months), the Bank assumes that the carrying amounts approximate their fair value.  
This applies to due from BSP and other banks, securities purchased under reverse repurchase 
agreements, demand deposits and short-term time deposits.  This assumption also applies 
to floating rate financial instruments (e.g. receivable from customers, deposit liabilities, bills 
payable) with repricing frequencies of every three months or less.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statements of financial position are 
categorized in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.  This hierarchy groups financial assets and 
liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used in measuring the fair value of 
the financial assets and liabilities.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

(a) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

(b) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and,

(c) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement.
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The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statements of financial position are 
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

       2012     2011  
       Level 1   Level 2   Level 1   Level 2 
      
  Financial assets at FVTPL
   Derivatives    P -  P 1,924,605,661 P -  P 1,852,943,552
   Government securities  45,700,241  -   430,131,048  - 
   Other debt securities  46,576,014  -   -   - 
   Securities purchased under
    reverse repurchase
    agreements    -   -   4,988,496,100  -
  
  AFS securities
   Government securities   1,558,453,564  -   2,543,747,845  - 
   Private debt securities  1,588,027,897  -   678,671,538  - 
   Equity securities    155,000  -   155,000  - 

       P 3,238,912,716 P 1,924,605,661 P 8,641,201,531 P 1,852,943,552

  Derivative financial liabilities P -  P 1,600,520,727 P -  P 1,446,945,853

There are no financial instruments valued using non-observable market inputs under Level 3 in 
2012 and 2011.

(c) Fair Value of Derivatives  

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market are 
determined through valuation techniques using the net present value computation.

Valuation techniques are used to determine fair values which are validated and periodically 
reviewed.  To the extent practicable, models use observable data, however, areas such as credit 
risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make 
estimates.  Changes in assumptions could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.  
The Bank uses judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly 
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. 

(d) Useful Lives of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 

The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment based on the 
period over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of bank 
premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations 
differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence 
and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  The carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment are presented in Note 10.  Actual results, however, may vary due to changes 
in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  There is no change in the 
estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment during the year.
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(e) Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the 
carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Management assessed 
that the deferred tax assets recognized as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 will be fully utilized 
in the coming years.  The carrying value of deferred tax assets as of those dates is disclosed in 
Notes 11 and 22.

(f ) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, FRSP for banks requires that an 
impairment review be performed when certain impairment indicators are present.  The Bank’s 
policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed in detail in Note 2.12.  
Though management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values 
reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in 
these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting 
impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations.

No impairment losses on non-financial assets were recognized in 2012 and 2011.

(g) Post-employment and Other Benefits

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of pension and other retirement benefits is 
dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts.  
Those assumptions are described in Note 20 and include, among others, discount rates, expected 
return on plan assets and salary increase rates.  In accordance with PFRS, actual results that differ 
from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally 
affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future periods.

The amounts of retirement benefit obligation (asset) and unrecognized actuarial losses are 
presented in Note 20.

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 Strategy in Using Financial Instruments

By their nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments including 
derivatives.  The Bank accepts deposits from customers at fixed and floating rates, and for various 
periods, and seeks to earn above-average interest margins by investing these funds in high-quality assets.  
The Bank seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds, lending and investing 
for longer periods at higher rates, while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that 
might fall due.

The Bank also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions in traded and 
over-the-counter instruments, including derivatives, to take advantage of short-term market 
movements in bonds and in currency and interest rate prices.  
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To manage the financial risk for holding financial assets and liabilities, the Bank operates an 
integrated risk management system to address the risks it faces in its banking activities, including 
liquidity, interest rate, credit and market risks.  The Bank’s risk management objective is to 
adequately and consistently evaluate, manage, control, and monitor the risk profile of the Bank’s 
statements of financial position to optimize the risk-reward balance and maximize return on the 
Bank’s capital.  The Bank’s Risk Management Committee has overall responsibility for the Bank’s 
risk management systems and sets risks management policies across the full range of risks to which 
the Bank is exposed to.  Specifically, the Bank’s Risk Management Committee places trading limits 
on the level of exposure that can be taken in relation to both overnight and intra-day market 
positions.  With the exception of specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate 
exposures associated with these derivatives are normally offset by entering into counterbalancing 
positions, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash amounts required to liquidate
market positions.

Within the Bank’s overall risk management system, the Assets and Liabilities Committee 
(ALCO) is responsible for managing the Bank’s statements of financial position, including the 
Bank’s liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange related risks.  In addition, ALCO formulates 
investment and financial policies by determining the asset allocation and funding mix strategies 
that are likely to yield the targeted statement of financial position results.

Separately, the Risk Management Group is mandated to adequately and consistently evaluate, 
manage, control and monitor the over-all risk profile of the Bank’s activities across the different 
risk areas (i.e. credit, market, liquidity, and operational) to optimize the risk-reward balance and 
maximize return on capital.  The Risk Management Group has responsibility for the setting of risk 
policies across the full range of risks to which the Bank is exposed to.

In the performance of its function, Risk Management Group has the following responsibilities:

•	 It is responsible for policy formulation in coordination with the relevant businesses/functions and 
ensures that proper approval for the manuals/policies is obtained from the appropriate body.

•	 It disseminates the approved policies to the relevant businesses/functions after which, pertinent 
authorities are delegated down to the businesses/functions to guide them in the conduct of 
their businesses/functions.   Risk Management Group then performs compliance monitoring 
and review to ensure approved policies are adhered to.

•	 It is responsible for clarifying interpretations of risk policies/guidelines raised by the Business 
Heads/Units.

•	 When adverse trends are observed in the account/portfolio, Risk Management Group is 
responsible for flagging these trends and ensuring relevant policies for problem accounts/
portfolio management are properly applied.  
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•	 It is also responsible for regular review and monitoring of accounts under their supervision and 
ensuring that the account’s loan classification is assessed timely and accurately.

4.2 Market Risk

The Bank’s exposure to market risk, the risk of future loss from changes in the price of a financial 
instrument, relates primarily to its holdings in foreign exchange instruments, debt securities and 
derivatives.  The Bank manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and measuring relevant or likely 
market risks.  Market Risk Management recommends market risk limits based on relevant activity 
indicators for approval by the Bank’s Risk Management Committee and Board of Directors. 

4.2.1 Foreign Exchange Risk

The Bank manages its exposure to effects of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates by 
maintaining foreign currency exposure within the existing regulatory guidelines and at a level that 
it believes to be relatively conservative for a financial institution engaged in that type of business.

The Bank’s net foreign exchange exposure is computed as its foreign currency resources less foreign 
currency liabilities plus contingent assets less contingent liabilities.  BSP regulations impose a cap 
of 20% of unimpaired capital or US$50 million, whichever is lower, on the consolidated excess 
foreign exchange holdings of banks in the Philippines.  The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure is 
primarily foreign exchange trading with corporate accounts and other financial institutions.  The 
Bank, as a market participant in the Philippine Dealing System, may engage in proprietary trading 
to take advantage of foreign exchange fluctuations.

The Bank’s foreign exchange exposure during the day is guided by the limits set forth in the Bank’s 
Risk Management Manual.  These limits are within the prescribed ceilings mandated by the BSP.  
At the end of each day, the Bank reports to the BSP on its compliance with the mandated foreign 
currency exposure limits. 

The following tables set out the composition of the Bank’s financial resources and liabilities as to 
currency as of December 31, 2012 and 2011:

            2012      
       Foreign 
       Currency     Peso     Total 

  Resources:
   Due from BSP   P          -    P 5,144,826,501   P 5,144,826,501   
   Due from other banks      832,871,356            56,117,423       888,988,779 
   Financial assets at FVTPL    49,087,733    1,967,794,183    2,016,881,916   
   AFS securities   2,990,652,841       72,635,655    3,063,288,496 
   HTM investments   4,424,715,270     2,887,773,869       7,312,489,139 
   Loans and receivables   831,877,993    1,740,845,041    2,572,723,034 
   Other resources    -         65,883,597    65,883,597

      P 9,129,205,193   P 11,935,866,269  P 21,065,081,462

Liabilities:
    Deposit liabilities P 6,768,109,523    P 6,446,310,558   P 13,214,420,081                      
    Bills payable                                 1,027,550,426     -     1,027,550,426 
                       Derivative financial liabilities   3,732,080     1,596,788,647     1,600,520,727
   Other liabilities    -     117,472,235    117,472,235

      P 7,799,392,029   P 8,160,571,440   P 15,959,963,469
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            2011      
       Foreign 
       Currency     Peso    Total 

  Resources:
   Due from BSP   P          -    P 7,092,895,832  P 7,092,895,832   
   Due from other banks    1,199,281,201            446,533       1,199,727,734
   Financial assets at FVTPL    206,344,183    7,065,226,517   7,271,570,700   
   AFS securities    3,093,975,043        16,011,588      3,109,986,631 
   HTM investments   4,800,865,902      3,080,325,220      7,881,191,122 
   Loans and receivables   -     1,533,921,496      1,533,921,496 
   Other resources    -         47,386,402   47,386,402

        P 9,300,466,329   P 18,836,213,588   P28,136,679,917 

Liabilities:
   Deposit liabilities  P 6,830,670,592   P 14,554,259,839  P 21,384,930,431 
   Bills payable                                  -     1,538,408   1,538,408
   Derivative financial liabilities   10,712,339    1,436,233,514   1,446,945,853
   Other liabilities    -     171,097,125   171,097,125

      P 6,841,382,931   P 16,163,128,886  P 23,004,511,817
4.2.2 Interest Rate Risk

The Bank prepares a gap analysis to measure the sensitivity of its resources, liabilities and off-book 
items to interest rate fluctuations.  The focus of analysis is the impact of changes in interest rates 
on accrual or reported earnings.  This analysis would give management a glimpse of maturity and 
re-pricing profile of its interest-sensitive resources and liabilities.  An interest rate gap report is 
prepared by classifying all assets and liabilities into various time buckets according to contracted 
maturities or anticipated repricing dates, and other applicable behavioral assumptions.  The 
difference in the amount of resources and liabilities maturing or being repriced in any time period 
category would then give the Bank an indication of the extent to which it is exposed to the risk of 
potential changes in net interest income.

The following table shows the amounts of the Bank’s resources and liabilities that are subject to 
different interest rate arrangements as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (amounts in thousands):

   2012   2011 

         Resources   Liabilities    Resources   Liabilities 

   

   Subject to floating interest rates P 647,779  P  9,475  P 246,711  P  953 

   Subject to fixed interest rates                          18,977,154     15,833,016   27,225,494    22,232,611  

   Non-interest bearing   1,685,141    230,945         746,428   941,311 

       P 21,310,074  P 16,073,436 P 28,218,633  P 23,174,875  
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The analyses of the groupings of resources, liabilities and off-statement of financial position items 
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 based on expected interest realization or recognition are 
presented below (amounts in millions):

  2012 
              More     More
         One to      than three     than one      More    
          three     months to     year to     than five     Non-rate
          months     one year     five years     years     sensitive     Total 

 Resources:  
     Due from BSP  P 3,900   P -    P -    P -    P 1,245   P 5,145 
     Due from other banks   -      -     -     -      889    889
     Trading and 
       investment securities   1,923    546    4,371    3,141    2,412    12,393   
     Loans and receivables   434    747    894    497               -     2,572
     Other resources   -     -     -     -     311    311
    Total Resources   6,257    1,293    5,265    3,638    4,857    21,310
    
    Liabilities and Equity:         
     Deposit liabilities   8,449    792    1,879    -     2,094    13,214  
     Bills payable   1,028    -     -     -     -     1,028   
     Other liabilities                      -      -     -     -                1,831    1,831
      Total Liabilities   9,477    792    1,879    -     3,925    16,073
    
     Equity    -     -     -     -     5,237    5,237

    Total Liabilities and
     Equity    9,477    792    1,879    -     9,162    21,310
 
     On-book Gap (  3,220 )   501    3,386    3,638  (  4,305 )   -    
     Cumulative On-book
      Gap  (  3,220 ) (  2,719 )   667    4,305    -     - 
   

Contingent Resources   1,343    -     -     -     -     1,343 

    Contingent Liabilities   1,340    -     -      -     -     1,340 

    Off-book Gap   3    -     -      -     -     3

    Cumulative Total Gap ( P 3,217) ( P     2,716 )  P 670   P   4,308   P  3   P      - 
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  2011 
              More     More
         One to      than three     than one      More    
          three     months to     year to     than five     Non-rate
          months     one year     five years     years     sensitive     Total 

 Resources:  
     Due from BSP  P 4,500   P -    P -    P -    P  2,593   P 7,093 
     Due from other banks   -      -     -     -      1,200    1,200 
     Trading and 
      investment securities  5,294    957    6,053    3,375    2,584    18,263   
     Loans and receivables   221    98    827    388               -     1,534   
     Other resources           -              -            -             -     129    129
    Total Resources   10,015    1,055    6,880    3,763    6,506    28,219
    
    Liabilities and Equity:         
     Deposit liabilities   10,978    3,475    2,704    -     4,288    21,385   
     Bills payable           -              -     2    -                -     2   
     Other liabilities           -              -            -     -     1,788    1,788
      Total Liabilities   10,978    3,475    2,706    -     6,016    23,175
    
     Equity    -     -     -     -     5,044    5,044

    Total Liabilities and
     Equity    10,978    3,475    2,706    -     11,060    28,219
 
     On-book Gap (  963 ) (  2,420 )   4,174    3,763  (  4,554 )   -    
     Cumulative On-book
      Gap  (  963 ) (  3,383 )   791    4,554    -     - 
    

Contingent Resources   4,691    1,002    20,885     5,342    -     31,920 
    Contingent Liabilities   4,615    934    20,625      5,320    -     31,494 
    Off-book Gap   76    68    260      22    -     426

    Cumulative Total Gap ( P 887 ) ( P     3,239 )  P 1,195   P   4,980   P  426   P      -  

The Bank’s market risk management limits are generally categorized as limits on:

•	 Value-at-risk (VaR) – The Risk Management Group computes the VaR benchmarked at a 
level which is a percentage of projected earnings.  The Bank uses the VaR model to estimate 
the daily potential loss that the Bank can incur from its trading book, based on a number 
of assumptions with a confidence level of 99%.  The measurement is designed such that 
exceptions over dealing limits should only arise in very exceptional circumstances.

•	 Stop loss – The Risk Management Group sets the amount of each risk-bearing activity at a 
percentage of the budgeted annual income for such activity.

•	 Nominal position – The Risk Management Group sets the nominal amount to prevent over-
trading, excessive concentration, and to limit financial loss supplementing other already 
established limits.
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•	 Trading volume – The Risk Management Group sets the volume of transactions that any employee 
may execute at various levels based on the rank of the personnel making the risk-bearing decision.

•	 Earnings-at-risk – The Risk Management Group computes the earnings-at-risk based on a 
percentage of projected annual net interest income.

VaR is one of the key measures in the Bank’s management of market risk.  VaR is defined as a 
statistical estimate of the maximum possible loss on a given position during a time horizon within a 
given confidence interval.  The Bank uses a 99% confidence level and a 260-day observation period 
in VaR calculation.  The Bank’s VaR limit is established as a percentage of projected earnings and 
is used to alert senior management whenever the potential losses in the Bank’s portfolios exceed 
tolerable levels.  

Because the VaR measure is tied to market volatility, it therefore allows management to react 
quickly and adjust its portfolio strategies in different market conditions in accordance with its risk 
philosophy and appetite.  The VaR model is validated through back-testing.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model 
is based do give rise to some limitations, including the following:

•	 A one-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within 
that period.  This is considered to be a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be 
the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a prolonged period.

•	 A 99% confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level.  Even within 
the model used, there is a one percent probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

•	 VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and does not reflect exposures that may arise on 
positions during the trading day.

•	 The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may 
not always cover all possible scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.

•	 The VaR measure is dependent upon the Bank’s position and the volatility of market prices.  
The VaR of an unchanged position reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

 
The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognized by supplementing VaR limits with other 
position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks 
within each trading portfolio.  In addition, the Bank uses a wide range of stress tests to model the 
financial impact of a variety of exceptional market scenarios on individual trading portfolios and 
the Bank’s overall position.

Stress VaR is also performed on all portfolios as a complementary measure of risk.  While VaR deals 
with risk during times of normality, stress testing is used to measure the potential effect of a crisis 
or low probability event.
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A summary of the VaR position of the Bank’s trading portfolios as at 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 follows:

    
   2012   2011 

         VaR   Stress VaR    VaR   Stress VaR 

   

   Foreign currency risk P 162,312  P 2,020,574 P 41,258  P 265,114 

   Interest rate risk – Peso  860,492   9,007,298  9,059,773   55,984,801 

   Interest rate risk – USD   226,660   8,892,614  4,519,124   98,241,660

       P 1,249,464  P 19,920,486 P 13,620,155  P 154,491,575

4.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that there will be insufficient funds available to adequately meet the credit 
demands of the Bank’s customers and repay deposits on maturity.  The Bank manages liquidity risk 
by holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure short-term funding requirements 
are met and by maintaining a balanced loan portfolio which is repriced on a regular basis.  In 
addition, the Bank seeks to maintain sufficient liquidity to take advantage of interest rate and 
exchange rate opportunities when they arise.

The analyses of the maturity groupings of resources, liabilities and off-book item as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, in accordance with the account classifications of the BSP, are 
presented in the next page (amounts in millions).  The amounts disclosed in the maturity 
analysis are the contractual undiscounted cash flows using the primary contractual maturities or 
behavioural assumptions on core levels (e.g. core deposit liabilities), if the latter is more relevant in 
profiling the liquidity gap.  Such undiscounted cash flows may differ from the amounts included in 
the statement of financial position because certain items in the statement of financial position are 
based on discounted cash flows.
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  2012 

          More     More

     One to      than three     than one      More    

     three     months to     year to     than five

     months     one year     five years     years     Total 

 Resources:

  Due from BSP  P        5,145    P -    P -   P -    P  5,145

  Due from other banks            889    -     -     -       889

  Trading and 

   investment securities         2,012     546        4,379      5,456     12,393 

  Loans and receivables   220     583        1,263     506     2,572 

  Other resources   -     -              -     311     311

 Total Resources   8,266    1,129    5,642    6,273    21,310 

 Liabilities and Equity:

  Deposit liabilities   4,383    1,421            1,882        5,528    13,214

  Bills payable           1,028     -           -     -     1,028

  Other liabilities    38           -      -     1,793    1,831 

   Total Liabilities      5,449    1,421         1,882     7,321    16,073 

 

  Equity    -     -     -     5,237    5,237

 Total Liabilities and Equity   5,449    1,421    1,882    12,558    21,310 

 On-book Gap   2,817  (  292 )   3,760  (  6,285 )   -   

 Cumulative On-book Gap   2,817    2,525    6,285    -     -  

 Contingent Resources   4,178         7,552    16,324    112    28,166 

 Contingent Liabilities            4,105    7,473    16,149    105           27,833 

 Off-book Gap             73    79    175     7    334

           

 Cumulative Total Gap  P       2,890    P   2,677   P 6,612  P 334  P -    
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  2011 

          More     More

     One to      than three     than one      More    

     three     months to     year to     than five

     months     one year     five years     years     Total 

 Resources:

  Due from BSP  P        7,093    P -    P -     P -    P 7,093

  Due from other banks            1,200    -     -     -       1,200  

  Trading and

   Investment securities         6,172     957        6,053      5,081     18,263   

  Loans and receivables   221     98        827     388     1,534  

  Other resources   -     -             -     129     129

 Total Resources   14,686    1,055    6,880    5,598    28,219  

 Liabilities and Equity:

  Deposit liabilities   10,504    3,474            1,987        5,420    21,385

  Bills payable           -      -            2    -     2 

  Other liabilities   -            -      -     1,788    1,788  

   Total Liabilities      10,504    3,474         1,989     7,208    23,175 

 

  Equity    -     -     -     5,044    5,044

 Total Liabilities and Equity   10,504    3,474    1,989    12,252    28,219  

 On-book Gap   4,182  (  2,419 )   4,891  (  6,654 )   -  

 

 Cumulative On-book Gap   4,182    1,763    6,654    -     -   

 Contingent Resources   4,691         1,002    20,885    5,342    31,920  

 Contingent Liabilities            4,616    934    20,625    5,320           31,494  

 Off-book Gap             76    68    260     22    426

           

 Cumulative Total Gap  P       4,258    P   1,907   P 7,058   P 426   P -    
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Contractual Maturity Analysis - Derivative Financial Liabilities

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Bank’s derivative financial liabilities for which contractual 
maturities are essential for the understanding of cash flows have contractual maturities as follows 
(amounts in thousands):

  2012 
          More     More
     One to      than three     than one      More    
     three     months to     year to     than five
     months     one year     five years     years     Total 

  Forwards  P 8,958   P   194    P  1,610  P -        P      10,762 

  Interest rate swaps         741     2,943     6,635    -     10,319            

  Cross-currency swaps   153,277     346,897         1,056,866   22,400             1,579,440 
  
      P 162,976   P 350,034   P 1,065,111  P 22,400   P 1,600,521 

  2011 
          More     More
     One to      than three     than one      More    
     three     months to     year to     than five
     months     one year     five years     years     Total 

  Forwards  P 29,349   P    199   P  334,062  P      236,241   P      599,852

  Cross-currency swaps    299    527,056    277,473    18,643         823,470

  Interest rate swaps         970              15,388    7,266    -                23,624 
  
      P 30,618   P   542,643   P 618,801  P 254,884   P 1,446,946 
 

4.4 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction may default and arises from lending, 
treasury, derivatives and other activities undertaken by the Bank.  The Bank manages its credit risk 
and loan portfolio through the Risk Management Group, which undertakes several functions with 
respect to credit risk management.

The Risk Management Group undertakes credit analysis and review to ensure consistency in the 
Bank’s risk assessment process.  The Risk Management Group performs risk ratings for corporate 
accounts and risk scoring for consumer accounts.  It also ensures that the Bank’s credit policies and 
procedures are adequate to meet the demands of the business.  The Risk Management Group is also 
responsible for developing procedures to streamline and expedite the processing of credit applications.

The Risk Management Group also undertakes portfolio management by reviewing the Bank’s loan 
portfolio, including the portfolio risks associated with particular industry sectors, regions, loan size 
and maturity, and development of a strategy for the Bank to achieve its desired portfolio mix and 
risk profile.
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The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of 
risk accepted in relation to one borrower or issuer, or groups of borrowers or issuers, and to 
geographical and industry segments.  Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to 
an annual or more frequent review.  

 
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits 
when appropriate.  Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by securing eligible
collateral/guarantees.

The Risk Management Group reviews the Bank’s loan portfolio in line with the Bank’s policy of 
not having significant unwarranted concentrations of exposure to individual counterparties, in 
accordance with the BSP’s prohibitions on maintaining a financial exposure to any single person or 
group of connected persons in excess of 25% of its Net Worth.

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statements 
of financial position, including derivatives.  The maximum exposure is gross, before the effect of 
mitigation through the use of netting and collateral agreements.

      2012   2011 
 
 Due from BSP  P 5,144,826,501 P 7,092,895,832
 Due from other banks   888,988,779    1,199,727,734  
 Financial assets at FVTPL
       Derivatives   1,924,605,661  1,852,943,552 
       Private debt securities                                    46,576,014        - 
       Government securities     45,700,241   430,131,048
       Securities purchased under reverse
   repurchase agreements   -   4,988,496,100
 AFS securities
  Government securities    1,558,453,564  2,543,747,845
  Private debt securities     1,588,027,897  678,671,538
 HTM investments
  Government securities    7,334,158,615  7,881,279,843
 Loans and receivables
  Receivable from customers   2,565,771,731  1,528,048,435
  Other receivables     6,951,303      5,873,061
 Other resources
  Others    65,883,597  47,386,402

      21,169,943,903      28,249,201,390  
 
 Loan commitments    112,826,900  1,321,192,659

     P 21,282,770,803 P 29,570,394,049
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The following table sets out the credit quality by class of the Bank’s on-book financial assets (net 
of unearned discount and gross of allowance for impairment) as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(amounts in thousands). 
  
            2012      

                 Trading and

       Cash and Cash     Loans and      Investment

       Equivalents     Receivables     Securities 

  Neither past due nor impaired:

   Grade:  Unclassified  P 6,033,815   P  2,572,723  P 12,497,522 

 

            2011      

                 Trading and

       Cash and Cash     Loans and      Investment

       Equivalents     Receivables     Securities 

  Neither past due nor impaired:

   Grade:  Unclassified  P 8,292,624   P  1,533,921   P    18,375,270 

  

The Bank holds some collateral against loans to customers in the form of deposits and money 
market investments; fixed, floater and zero coupon bonds and notes guaranteed by the government; 
fixed, floater or zero coupon bonds issued by domestic corporations; and listed and publicly traded 
liquid equity issues.  The market values of collaterals are based on the previous day’s closing price 
and are revalued daily.  Collateral generally is not held over due from other banks, interbank 
loans and investment securities, except when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and 
securities borrowing activities. 

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against neither past 
due nor impaired financial assets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are shown below.

  
      2012   2011 

 

 Equities    P   467,194,701  P    173,650,094

 Real properties     460,550,000  -

 Debt securities       109,602,650    110,761,924

                        Others                                                                   67,443,816      74,542,498

    P 1,104,791,167 P 358,954,516
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The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location.  An analysis of 
concentrations of credit risk (gross of allowance for impairment) at the reporting date is shown below.

            December 31, 2012    
            Loans –     Trading and
       Cash and Cash     excluding Other     Investment
       Equivalents      Receivables     Securities 

  Concentration by sector:
   Financial intermediaries  P 6,033,815,280   P 209,673,944    P 2,261,487,758
   Government    -     -     9,026,497,401
             Manufacturing (various industries)      -     1,518,066,338     370,702,743    
   Real estate, renting and   
    business activities              -                         473,049,307      -   
   Other community, social                               
    and personal activities   -                 364,982,142    838,834,090
   
        P 6,033,815,280   P 2,565,771,731  P 12,497,521,992 
  
  Concentration by location:
   Philippines   P 6,033,815,280   P 1,733,893,738   P 10,841,350,263
   Other     -     831,877,993    1,656,171,729 
       
       P 6,033,815,280   P 2,565,771,731   P 12,497,521,992 

      
            December 31, 2011    
            Loans –     Trading and
       Cash and Cash     excluding Other     Investment
       Equivalents      Receivables     Securities  

  Concentration by sector:
   Financial intermediaries  P 8,292,623,566   P  199,820,289  P 6,922,833,504
   Government    -     -     10,033,031,171
             Manufacturing (various industries)      -      1,026,973,022    1,412,265,617 
   Real estate, renting and   
    business activities              -                         -        7,139,634
   Agriculture, fishing and forestry              -                         42,208,134    -  
   Other community, social                                     
    and personal activities               -     259,046,990    - 
   
        P 8,292,623,566   P 1,528,048,435   P 18,375,269,926 
  
  Concentration by location:
   Philippines   P 7,112,387,067   P 1,308,327,605   P 10,156,027,362
   Other        1,180,236,499    219,720,830    8,219,242,564 
 
 P 8,292,623,566 P 1,528,048,435 P 18,375,269,926
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4.5 Equity Risk
 
Equity risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments will decrease as a result of changes 
in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks (whether traded or not).  The Bank 
has no significant equity risk.

4.6 Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to the Bank’s:

•	 failure to comply with defined bank operational procedures;
•	 inability to address fraud committed internally or externally; 
•	 inability to handle system failures; and 
•	 inability to cope with the impact of external events.

The Bank manages its operational risks by having policies to minimize its expected losses, allocating 
capital for the unexpected losses, and having insurance and/or a business continuity plan to prepare 
for catastrophic losses. 

4.6.1  Framework

True to its commitment to sound management and corporate governance, the Bank considers 
operational risk management as a critical element in the conduct of its business.  Under the Bank’s 
Operational Risk Management (ORM) framework, the BOD has the ultimate responsibility for 
providing leadership in the management of risk in the Bank.  The business and service unit heads, 
as risk owners, are responsible for identifying, assessing and limiting the impact of risk in their 
respective businesses.  The Risk Management Group provides the common risk language and 
management tools across the Bank as well as monitors the implementation of the ORM framework 
and policies.

 
Throughout 2012, the Bank continued to pursue its proactive management of identified 
operational risks, focusing on the ongoing adoption of the Risk and Control Self-Assessment 
(RCSA) process so that business process owners could document both their operational risks and 
the control mechanisms they have put in place to manage those risks.  This ORM tool allows the 
Bank to identify risks the business/operation faces, assess the severity of those risks, evaluate the 
adequacy of key controls associated to the identified risks, and take proactive action to address any 
deficiencies identified.

Operational risks arising from health, safety and environmental issues are appropriately managed 
through policies and measures that are integrated into the Bank’s day-to-day operations.  These 
include Environmental Consciousness, Occupational Health and Safety, and Community Health 
and Safety.
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 
 5.l  Due from BSP

 This account is composed of the following:

   2012   2011 

 Mandatory reserves    P 1,242,191,257 P 2,588,351,562
 Other than mandatory reserves            3,902,635,244  4,504,544,270

      P 5,144,826,501 P 7,092,895,832

 
Mandatory reserves represent the balance of the deposit account maintained with the BSP to meet 
reserve requirements and to serve as clearing account for interbank claims. Deposits with BSP 
other than mandatory reserves comprise of Special Deposit Account.    

Due from BSP bears annual effective interest rates ranging from 3.8% to 4.5% in 2012 and from 
0.5% to 4.0% in 2011, except for the amounts within the required reserve as determined by BSP.  
Total interest income earned amounted to P73,445,946 and P78,124,474 in 2012 and 2011, 
respectively, and is included as part of Interest Income on Due from Other Banks in the statements 
of income.

Cash and balances with the BSP are included in cash and cash equivalents for cash flow statement 
reporting purposes.

 Under Section 254 of the Manual of Regulations for Banks (MORB), a bank is required to 
maintain at least 25 percent of its reserve requirements in the form of deposits with the BSP as 
among the allowable instruments for reserve cover.  Section 254.1 of the MORB further provides 
that such deposit account with the BSP is not considered as a regular current account as BSP 
checks for drawings against such deposits shall be limited to (a) settlement of obligations with the 
BSP, and (b) withdrawals to meet cash requirements.

 5.2  Due from Other Banks

The balance of this account represents regular deposits with the following:

   Note   2012   2011 

 Foreign banks    P  820,956,637 P  1,180,236,499
 Local banks  21   68,032,142      19,491,235

   P 888,988,779 P 1,199,727,734
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These deposits earn effective interest at rates ranging from 0.1% to 0.5% and 0.2% to 2.0% 
per annum in 2012 and 2011, respectively. The total interest earned on due from other banks 
amounted to P3,501,968 in 2012 and P5,528,891 in 2011.

 
A breakdown of this account by currency follows:

   2012   2011 

 US Dollar    P  780,215,890 P 1,187,730,188
 Peso              56,117,423  446,533
 Other foreign currencies          52,655,466        11,551,013

    P 888,988,779 P 1,199,727,734

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
 

This account is composed of the following:
   

        Notes   2012   2011 

 
 Derivatives  14, 21  P 1,924,605,661 P 1,852,943,552  
 Government securities     45,700,241  430,131,048
 Securities purchased under 
 reverse repurchase 

agreements    -   4,988,496,100 
 Other debt securities    46,576,014  - 
   
    P 2,016,881,916 P    7,271,570,700

Government securities consist of various treasury bills and other securities issued by the 
government that earn coupon interest from 0.00% to 9.13% per annum both in 2012 and 2011.

Other debt securities include local and foreign private corporate securities that earn coupon 
interest from 6.90% to 8.00% per annum in 2012 (nil in 2011).

Effective interest rate range from 0.36% to 4.37% and 0.99% to 4.74% for peso denominated and 
foreign currency denominated FVTPL securities, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2012.  
Effective interest rates range from 1.76% to 4.87% and 2.09% to 4.99% for peso denominated and 
foreign currency denominated FVTPL securities, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Except for derivatives and securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements, the amounts 
presented have been determined directly by reference to published price quoted in an active 
market.  The fair value of derivative financial assets is determined through valuation techniques 
using net present value computation.    

The outstanding balances of the securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreement in 
2011 are due within three days after the end of the reporting periods.  The carrying amount is 
a reasonable approximation of their fair values since these securities have short-term maturities.  
There were no outstanding securities purchased under reverse repurchase as of December 31, 2012.
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The Bank recognized net trading gains on financial assets at FVTPL amounting to P141,635,996 
and P47,220,904 in 2012 and 2011, respectively, which are included as part of Trading and 
Securities Gain – net in the statements of income.

The total interest earned on financial assets at FVTPL amounted to P291,621,077 in 2012 and 
P249,711,258 in 2011.

 
7. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

 This account is composed of the following:
   
           2012   2011 

 Debt securities
 Government securities   P 1,558,453,564 P 2,543,747,845
 Other debt securities   1,588,027,897   678,671,538
 Equity securities 
 Quoted     155,000  155,000
 Not quoted     5,500,100  5,500,100
     3,152,136,561  3,228,074,483 
 Allowance for impairment  ( 88,848,065 ) (  118,087,852 )
  
    P 3,063,288,496 P  3,109,986,631

 
As to currency, this account is composed of the following:

    2012    2011  

   Foreign currency P 2,990,652,841  P 3,093,975,043
   Peso  72,635,655   16,011,588

   P 3,063,288,496 P 3,109,986,631

  

Changes in the Bank’s holdings of AFS securities are summarized below. 
    
          2012   2011 

 Balance at beginning of year   P 3,109,986,631 P 4,224,501,891
 Additions     963,686,406  1,605,469,904
 Fair value gains (losses)    2,857,209  (  28,930,920 )  

  Disposals    ( 882,191,692 )    (  2,565,490,890 )
 Foreign currency revaluation  ( 152,064,491 )    (  6,140,587 )
 Impairment recovery (losses)     21,014,433  (  119,422,767 )
    
 Balance at end of year   P 3,063,288,496 P 3,109,986,631
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Debt securities earn interest from 3.75% to 9.00% per annum in 2012 and 0.00% to 10.38% per 
annum in 2011. 

Other debt securities include local and foreign private corporate securities amounting to 
P1,588,027,897 and P678,671,538 in 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Effective interest rates range from 0.87% to 4.37% and 3.75% to 9.88% for peso denominated and 
foreign currency denominated AFS securities, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2012.  
Effective interest rates range from 1.54% to 1.94% and 0.47% to 8.34% for peso denominated and 
foreign currency AFS securities, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2011.
  
Total interest earned on AFS securities amounted to P132,261,388 in 2012 and P143,282,461 in 
2011.  Net gains on the disposal of AFS securities amounted to P102,264,842 and P40,763,653 in 
2012 and 2011, respectively, and are included as part of Trading and Securities Gain – net in the 
statements of income.

 7.1  Collateralized Debt Obligation

Prior to December 23, 2011, the Bank has an investment in a CDO with principal amount
(face value) of US$5,000,000 maturing in 2017.  On December 23, 2011, the issuer, Merill 
Lynch International, redeemed the CDO at a price of zero.  Outstanding book value of the Bank’s 
investment in CDO as of said date amounted to P204,531,267.  No gain or loss is recognized 
since the CDO is fully provided with allowance for impairment since 2009.

7.2  Reclassification of AFS to UDSCL
   
  In 2008, relative to the amendments to PAS 39 and guidelines from BSP Circular 628, the Bank 

reclassified certain AFS to HTM and UDSCL.  Total value of embedded derivatives reclassified 
as part of UDSCL amounted to P113,628,498 as of December 31, 2008.  The Bank identified 
certain financial assets that would have met the definition of loans and receivable for which at 
August 29, 2008, the Bank had the intention and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until 
maturity (see Notes 8 and 9).  

  
On May 24, 2011 and July 25, 2011, the Bank unwound the outstanding CLDs and CLNs 
with certain financial institutions amounting to P437,342,716 and P445,054,240, respectively.  
The Bank received cash amounting to P438,760,761 and P442,510,276, respectively, which are 
inclusive of accrued interest amounting to P1,107,927 and P3,320,276, respectively.  The Bank 
recognized gain amounting to P310,118 and loss amounting to P5,864,240, respectively, and 
these are presented as part of the Trading and Securities Gain-net in the 2011 statement of income.
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Presented below is the analysis of the fair value of the financial assets reclassified from AFS to 
UDSCL and the impact to profit or loss and equity in 2011 (no impact in 2012) had the Bank not 
made the reclassification in 2008.

  
  At Reclassification Date (August 29, 2008)  
               Effective
         Carrying/   Unrealized Gain/  Interest   Estimated  
         Fair Value      Loss in Equity   Range    Cash Flows 

  Government securities   P 1,467,912,454 P 33,425,901  6.7%  P 1,615,842,422
  Credit-linked notes    2,841,909,223 (  36,586,301 )  4.7% - 11.4%     3,863,783,317

        P 4,309,821,677 ( P 3,160,400 )   P 5,479,625,739

  At December 31, 2011  
               Fair Value Gain   Fair Value Gain
               Recognized in P&L   Recognized in Equity
         Carrying      Had The Investments   Had The Investments 
         Amount    Fair Value   Been Not Reclassified    Been Not Reclassified   

  Credit linked notes     P -  P -  ( P 5,554,121 ) P - 

Portion of net fair value loss in equity amortized amounted to P203,465 in 2011 (see Note 16.4).

 7.3  Reclassification of AFS to HTM

On August 29, 2008, the Bank reclassified government securities with carrying value and unrealized 
fair value losses amounting to P3,065,470,096 and P56,425,024, respectively, to held-to-maturity 
investments (see Note 8).  

The estimated amount of cash flows the Bank expects to recover from these securities as of the date 
of reclassification amounted to P3,989,430,404 with annual effective interest rates ranging from 
6.2% to 7.2%.

Portion of fair value loss in comprehensive income amortized amounted to P9,126,422 and 
P8,985,558 in 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Note 16.4).

8. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

 This account is composed of the following:
   
          2012   2011 

 Government securities   P 7,334,158,615 P 7,881,279,843 
 Allowance for impairment   ( 21,669,476 ) (  88,721 )

    P 7,312,489,139 P 7,881,191,122
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The maturity profile of these investments is set out in the following table:
        
           2012   2011 
 
   Within one year   P 2,513,374,415     P 1,136,709,421 
   Beyond one year within five years     3,130,857,835  4,958,697,615
   More than five years     1,668,256,889  1,785,784,086   

     P  7,312,489,139 P  7,881,191,122

As to currency, the account is composed of the following:

    2012    2011  

   Peso  P 2,887,773,869  P 3,080,325,220
   Foreign currency   4,424,715,270    4,800,865,902

    P 7,312,489,139 P  7,881,191,122

Changes in the Bank’s holdings of HTM investments are summarized below. 

          2012   2011 

 Balance at beginning of year   P 7,881,191,122 P 8,626,118,034
 Additions    882,431,674  1,615,544,438
 Impairment recovery (loss)  ( 21,852,037 )   41,395,481 
 Maturities    ( 1,235,326,863 ) (  2,401,866,831 ) 
 Foreign currency revaluation  ( 193,954,757 )   -   

 
  

   Balance at end of year   P 7,312,489,139 P  7,881,191,122

HTM investments earn effective interest at rates ranging from 0.23% to 3.01% per annum in 
2012 and 1.13% to 3.79 per annum in 2011.

In 2006, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) tendered an exchange offer to the holders of certain 
maturing government securities to exchange these securities into new Benchmark Bonds.  In 
relation to the exchange offer of the BTr, the SEC and the BSP issued their respective circulars 
which allowed the exchange transaction to be exempted from the tainting provision of PAS 39, 
provided that the participating banks chose to retain the held-to-maturity classification of the 
Benchmark Bonds received.
 
The BSP Circular further required that the difference between the fair value of the Benchmark 
Bonds and the carrying amount of the maturing government securities shall not be recognized as 
gains or losses in the statements of income but shall be amortized over the life of the
Benchmark Bonds.  
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On September 4, 2006, the Bank participated in the exchange offer of the BTr by exchanging 
P328,247,292 in HTM government securities.  The fair value of the Benchmark Bonds received 
amounted to P351,718,874, resulting in a gain of P23,471,582.  In compliance with the SEC and 
BSP, the Bank deferred the recognition of the gain and amortized it over the life of the Benchmark 
Bonds.  Total amount of gain amortized amounted to P2,352,844 and P2,346,416 in 2012 and 
2011, respectively (included as part of Trading and Securities Gain – net in the statements of 
income).  The deferred gain from this bond exchange amounted to P8,614,237 and P10,967,081 
in 2012 and 2011, respectively, and is presented as part of Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities in 
the statements of financial position (see Note 15).

On October 6, 2010, the Bank participated in the exchange offer of the BTr by exchanging 
$36,117,000 ROP bonds booked under HTM securities.  The fair value of the Benchmark Bonds 
received amounted to $39,866,000 resulting in a gain of $2,193,613 or P96,168,004.  The Bank 
deferred the recognition of gain and amortized it over the life of the Benchmark Bonds.  The 
total amount of gain amortized in 2012 and 2011 amounted to $209,899 or P14,162,584 and 
$263,730 or P9,350,378, respectively (also shown as part of Trading and Securities Gain – net 
in the statements of income). The remaining deferred gain from this transaction amounted to 
P70,426,321 and P84,588,905 in 2012 and 2011, respectively (presented as part of the Accrued 
Taxes and Other Liabilities in the statements of financial position).

The total interest earned on HTM investments amounted to P394,471,066 in 2012 and 
P437,896,081 in 2011.

In compliance with the regulations that govern the Bank’s trust functions, government bonds owned 
by the Bank with a total face value of P1,450.3 million and P1,104.0 million as of December 31, 
2012 and 2011, respectively, are deposited with the BSP (see Note 23).
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9. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables consist of the following:

            2012   2011 

 

  Receivables from customers

   Individuals  

    Consumer   P 364,982,142 P 251,442,062

   

   Corporate

    Commercial        2,200,789,589    1,276,606,373

        2,565,771,731  1,528,048,435

  Other receivables      6,951,303  5,873,061

  

       P  2,572,723,034 P 1,533,921,496

 
 The maturity profile of the Bank’s loans and receivables follows:

           2012    2011 

  Within one year   P 1,195,697,994 P 318,573,952
  Beyond one year within five years       916,390,620       827,347,544
  Beyond five years  460,634,420  388,000,000
 
        P 2,572,723,034 P 1,533,921,496

As to security, loans and receivables are classified into:
           
           2012   2011 
  
  Secured:     
   Real estate mortgage  P 467,036,416 P -   

 Others     405,456,706                 293,528,818
  Unsecured     1,700,229,912  1,240,392,678

        P 2,572,723,034 P 1,533,921,496

 9.1  Interest Income on Loans and Receivables

This account consists of:
           2012   2011 
  
  Receivable from customers      P 152,939,755 P 132,464,801
  Unquoted debt securities      -   10,920,443
  Others        -   1,194,694

         P 152,939,755 P 144,579,938

Unquoted debt securities bear effective interest rates ranging from 1.6% to 2.0% per annum
in 2011. 
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 9.2  Reclassification of CLNs to Unquoted Debt Securities

In 2008, pursuant to the amendments to PAS 39, the BSP issued Circular No. 628 – Guidelines on 
the Reclassification of Financial Assets Between Categories, in concurrence with the amendments to 
PAS 39, that allowed the reclassification of CLNs and other similar instruments that are linked to 
ROPs to held to maturity investments or to loans for prudential reporting purposes of banks without 
bifurcating the embedded derivative.  Consequently, effective August 29, 2008, in accordance with 
such prudential reporting guidelines, the Bank reclassified the CLNs linked to ROPs amounting 
to P2,955,537,721 and their derivative components amounting to P113,628,498 to loans and 
receivables.  Prior to the reclassification, the Bank presented the host contracts under AFS securities 
account and the derivative components of these CLNs under FVTPL account.

On February 2, 2009, the SEC adopted the prudential regulations of the BSP under Circular 628.  
Thus, banks which reclassified their financial instruments in accordance with BSP Circular 628 and 
other applicable and existing accounting standards shall be considered compliant with FRSP for 
banks as their financial reporting framework.  The reconciliations of equity, statement of financial 
position and profit or loss reported under PFRS to FRSP are disclosed in Note 2.

In 2011, the Bank unwound the related securities, hence, the previously recognized allowance for 
impairment was reversed as recovery from impairment in the amount of P76,716,633 in 2011.

10. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT

  The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization at the beginning and 
end of 2012 and 2011 are shown below.

                Furniture,
       Fixtures and   Leasehold 
       Equipment   Improvements   Total 
    
  December 31, 2012
  Cost   P 105,808,333 P 99,497,060 P 205,305,393
  Accumulated depreciation
   and amortization  (  65,797,520 ) (  66,406,262 ) (  132,203,782 )

  Net carrying amount  P 40,010,813 P    33,090,798 P 73,101,611
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  December 31, 2011
  Cost   P 70,449,603 P 88,272,495 P 158,722,098
  Accumulated depreciation
   and amortization  (  47,462,849 ) (  53,561,683 ) (  101,024,532 )

  Net carrying amount  P 22,986,754 P    34,710,812 P 57,697,566
    

 January 1, 2011
  Cost   P 51,203,241 P 58,664,547 P 109,867,788 
  Accumulated depreciation
   and amortization  (  39,133,418 ) (  46,450,279 ) (  85,583,697 )

  Net carrying amount  P 12,069,823 P    12,214,268 P 24,284,091

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment at the 
beginning and end of 2012 and 2011 is shown below.

                Furniture,
       Fixtures and   Leasehold 
       Equipment   Improvements   Total 

  Balance at January 1, 2012, 
  net of accumulated 
  depreciation and amortization P 22,986,754 P 34,710,812 P 57,697,566
 Additions    35,439,218  11,224,565  46,663,783
 Depreciation and amortization
  charges for the year  (  18,415,159 ) (  12,844,579 ) (  31,259,738 )

  Balance at December 31, 2012
  net of accumulated
  depreciation and amortization P 40,010,813 P 33,090,798 P 73,101,611

  Balance at January 1, 2011, 
  net of accumulated 
  depreciation and amortization P 12,069,823 P 12,214,268 P 24,284,091
 Additions    20,136,368  32,632,440  52,768,808 
  Depreciation and amortization
  charges for the year  (  9,219,437 ) (  10,135,896)  (  19,355,333)

  Balance at December 31, 2011
  net of accumulated
  depreciation and amortization P 22,986,754 P 34,710,812 P 57,697,566

Total cost of fully depreciated assets, consisting of transportation equipment and furniture, fixtures 
and equipment amounted to P71,790,901 and P43,764,543 in 2012 and 2011, respectively, are 
still being used by the Bank.

The BSP requires that investments in bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment do not 
exceed 50% of the Bank’s unimpaired capital.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Bank has 
satisfactorily complied with this requirement.



94 ANNUAL REPORT 2012

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

11. OTHER RESOURCES 

   This account consists of:

       Notes   2012   2011  
 
  Retirement asset   20  P 100,124,072  P - 
  Accrued trust fees     64,219,641   45,710,608
  Deferred tax assets – net  22    43,181,683   3,912,389
  Deferred charges       3,350,034   3,799,335
  Prepaid expenses       1,179,738   4,358,042
  Others       25,719,545   13,861,849
   
       P 237,774,713  P 71,642,223

 
 Deferred charges consist mainly of purchased software costs which are capitalized and amortized 

over 3 to 10 years.  Amortization charges related to software costs amounted to P8,022,733 
and P2,757,376 in 2012 and 2011, respectively, and are included as part of Depreciation and 
Amortization in the statements of income.

12. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES

The maturity profile of the Bank’s deposit liabilities follows:

               2012                       2011              
 
    Within one year  P  10,985,420,099 P 19,331,045,745
    Beyond one year up to five years   2,228,999,982  2,053,884,686
   

    P 13,214,420,081 P 21,384,930,431

The classification of the Bank’s deposit liabilities as to currency follows:

               2012                       2011               
 
   Peso   P  6,446,310,558 P 14,554,259,839
   Foreign currency    6,768,109,523  6,830,670,592
      

    P 13,214,420,081 P 21,384,930,431

Interest expense on deposit liabilities comprises of:

               2012                       2011               

    Time   P  217,720,091 P 251,492,342
    Demand     78,239,004  125,962,566
   

    P    295,959,095 P    377,454,908
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Interest rates on time deposits ranged between 0.2% to 3.8% and 0.5% to 3.3% per annum for 
2012 and 2011, respectively.  For demand deposits, interest rates ranged from 0.0% to 0.3% and 
0.0% to 2.0% in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Effective March 2012, non-FCDU deposit liabilities of the Bank are subject to a reserve requirement 
of 18%.  Previous requirement of 11% liquidity and 10% statutory reserves were amended last 
March 2012 via BSP Circular No. 753 – Unification of Statutory and Liquidity Reserves.

Management considers the carrying amounts of the short-term deposit liabilities recognized in 
the statements of financial position to be reasonable approximation of their fair values.  On the 
other hand, the fair value of the Bank’s outstanding long-term negotiable certificates of deposit 
(LTNCDs) and time deposits with maturities of more than one year is measured using discounted 
cash flow.  

On April 26, 2007, the Monetary Board of the BSP authorized the Bank to issue up to 
P5,000,000,000 worth of fixed rate or zero coupon LTNCDs in one or more tranches.  The first 
tranche, consisting of P2,191,400,000 in zero coupon LTNCDs, was issued on June 18, 2007
and matured on December 18, 2012.  

13. BILLS PAYABLE

Outstanding bills payable as of 2012 consist of unsecured interbank dollar loan and are due within 
one month from the end of reporting periods.  In 2011, bills payable consists of promissory notes 
due in 2012.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Bank has no outstanding secured liabilities 
and assets pledged as security.

Bills payable represent the Bank’s borrowings from other local and foreign banks and entities which bear 
interest rates ranged from 1.2% to 1.3% and 3.9% per annum in 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Bank uses derivative instruments for both hedging and non-hedging purposes.  Currency 
forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign and domestic currency, including undelivered 
spot transactions.  Currency and interest swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows 
for another.  Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates or a combination 
of all these.  No exchange of principal takes place, except for certain currency swaps.  The Bank’s 
credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to 
perform their obligation.  

This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, a proportion of 
the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market.  To control the level of credit 
risk taken, the Bank assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.
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The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with 
instruments recognized in the statements of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the 
amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, 
do not indicate the Bank’s exposure to credit or price risks.  The derivative instruments become 
favorable or unfavorable as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates and other underlying relative to their terms.  The aggregate contractual or notional amount 
of derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to which instruments are favorable or 
unfavorable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities, can 
fluctuate significantly from time to time.  

The fair values of derivative instruments held are set out below.

       Fair Values  

  Notional  Amount   Assets    Liabilities 

  December 31, 2012

   Free-standing:

  Forward contracts

    Sell: USD/PHP P 164,627,959 P 209,115 P - 

    Buy: USD/PHP  164,627,959  -   10,762,233

  Cross currency swaps   26,732,556,250    1,924,396,546  1,579,439,570

  Interest rate swaps  200,000,000  -   10,318,924 

  

   P 27,261,812,168 P 1,924,605,661 P 1,600,520,727

December 31, 2011

   Free-standing:

  Forward contracts

    Sell: USD/PHP P 217,195,559 P 597,596,985 P - 

    Buy: USD/PHP  215,732,732  -   599,851,958

  Cross currency swaps   26,033,801,177    1,250,997,052  823,470,485

  Interest rate swaps  788,400,000  4,349,515  23,623,410 

  

   P 27,255,129,469 P 1,852,943,552 P 1,446,945,853

        
The fair value gains or losses recognized as part of Trading and Securities Gain – net account in the 
statements of income determined using a valuation technique amounted to a loss of P69,677,272 
and a gain of P137,071,005 in 2012 and 2011, respectively, representing changes in fair value of 
the derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Bank.
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15. ACCRUED TAXES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

 The breakdown of this account follows:

       Notes   2012   2011 

  Deferred gain on 
   bond exchange   8  P  79,040,558 P 95,555,986
  Accrued expenses     44,647,475  35,555,902
  Treasurer’s check     38,496,322  84,265,869
  Accrued taxes     18,138,809  29,316,485
  Withholding taxes       16,293,756  15,647,590
  Retirement benefit obligation 20    -   29,844,943
  Others      34,328,438  51,275,354

       P  230,945,358 P 341,462,129

16. EQUITY
 
16.1 Capital Stock

  Capital stock as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 consists of:

   Number of Shares   Amount 
        2012   2011   2012   2011 

  Preferred shares – P1,000 par value
 Authorized – 1,250,000 shares

   Issued and outstanding  1,225,000  1,225,000 P 1,225,000,000 P 1,225,000,000

  Common shares – P1,000 par value
 Authorized – 1,250,000 shares

   Issued and outstanding  940,000  940,000 P 940,000,000 P 940,000,000

  
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Bank has one stockholder owning 100 or more shares of 
the Bank’s capital stock. 

16.2 Preferred Shares 

The following are the features of the Bank’s preferred shares:

(a) The BOD may specify the terms, conditions, qualifications, restrictions and privileges of the 
preferred non-voting stock.  All preferred shares shall be of equal rank, preference, priority and 
shall be identical in all respects regardless of series.

(b) The holders of serial preferred stock shall be entitled to receive dividends, when, as and if 
declared by the BOD out of funds legally available and not before any dividends on the 
common stock shall be paid or set apart for payments.

(c) The holders of the preferred shares shall not be entitled to vote at any meeting of the 
stockholders for the election of directors or for any other purpose or participate in any action 
taken by the Bank or its stockholders.
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16.3 Common Shares

The Bank has an authorized common stock of 1,250,000 voting shares with a par value of P1,000 
per share.

 16.4 Unrealized Fair Value Losses on AFS Securities
 
The reconciliation of the unrealized fair value losses on AFS securities follows:

     
   Notes   2012   2011 
 
 Balance at beginning of year  P 19,190,506   P 46,417,271   
 Amortization of unrealized fair   
 value losses 7.3 (  9,126,422 ) (  8,985,558 ) 
 Unrealized fair value (gains) 
 losses during the year (  2,857,209 )   28,930,920   
 Transfer of realized loss to statements
 of income on disposal of securities (  1,333,998 ) (  47,375,592 ) 
 Transfer of realized fair value gain 
 to statements of income for the
 preterminated AFS previously
 reclassified to UDSCL 7.2   -     203,465 
  
 Balance at end of year  P 5,872,877  P 19,190,506 

16.5 Surplus Reserve 

In compliance with the requirements of the General Banking Act relative to the Bank’s trust 
functions, certain percentage of the trust income is transferred to surplus reserve.  This yearly 
transfer is required until the surplus reserve for trust function is equivalent to 20% of the Bank’s 
authorized capital stock.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, appropriated surplus related to the 
Bank’s trust functions amounted to P76,098,171 and P52,284,018, respectively.

16.6 Surplus Free

On December 6, 2010, the BOD approved dividend amounting to P300,000,000 (or P13.57 
per share for preferred and common stock).  BSP approved the Bank’s declaration of dividend 
to BDO Unibank on August 8, 2012.  The dividend was paid within the year of approval
from BSP.
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16.7 Capital Management 
 
16.7.1 Regulatory Capital 
 
On January 15, 2009, the BSP issued Circular No. 639 articulating the need for Banks to adopt 
and document an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).  All universal and 
commercial banks are expected to perform a thorough assessment of all their material risks and 
maintain adequate capital to support these risks.  This is intended to complement the current 
regulatory capital requirement of at least 10% of risk assets, which covered only credit, market and 
operational risks.

On December 29, 2009, BSP issued Circular No. 677 effectively extending the implemention 
of ICAAP from January 2010 to January 2011. The BDO Group is complying with the 
BSP’s ICAAP.  BDO Unibank, as the Parent Bank, is driving the preparation and compliance 
requirements of the ICAAP bankwide/ group-wide policies.  Annualy as required, the Parent Bank 
submits its Updated ICAAP to the BSP.  The Bank is closely coordinating with the Parent Bank 
regarding said policies.

The Bank’s lead regulator, the BSP, sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank.  In 
implementing current capital requirements, the BSP requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed 
ratio of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets.

The BSP, under Circular 538 dated August 4, 2006 has prescribed guidelines in implementing the 
revised risk-based capital adequacy framework for the Philippine banking system to conform to 
Basel II Accord recommendations.  The new BSP guidelines took effect on July 1, 2007. 

Under current banking regulations, the combined capital accounts of each bank should not be 
less than an amount equal to ten percent of its risk assets.  The qualifying capital of the Bank for 
purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets ratio is total equity excluding:

(a)  unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the BSP;
(b) total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors, officers, stockholders and 

related interests (DOSRI); 
(c)  deferred tax asset or liability; 
(d) goodwill;  
(e) sinking fund for redemption of redeemable preferred shares; and,
(f ) other regulatory deductions.

Risk assets consist of total assets after the exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans covered 
by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent 
covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the Monetary Board
of the BSP.

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The impact of the level of capital 
on shareholder’s return is recognized by the Bank as well as the need to maintain a balance between 
the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security 
afforded by a sound capital position.
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Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of the Bank’s compliance with regulatory 
requirements and ratios is based on the amount of the Bank’s “unimpaired capital” (regulatory net 
worth) as reported to the BSP, which is determined on the basis of regulatory accounting policies, 
which differ from PFRS in some aspects.  The combined capital accounts of the Bank should not 
be less than an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of its risk assets.  As of December 31, 2012 
and 2011, the Bank is in compliance with the capital adequacy ratio requirement of the BSP.  The 
Bank’s capital to risk assets ratio for combined credit, market and operational risk stood at 33% and 
32% as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Shown below are the Bank’s capital-to-risk assets ratios as reported to the BSP as of December 31, 
2012 and 2011.

    2012    2011  

   Tier 1 capital P   5,190,459,460  P  5,035,570,104
   Tier 2 capital       26,027,538             28,188,138
   Gross qualifying capital                                      5,216,486,998     5,063,758,242
   Less required reductions       28,182,370         36,624,225

   Total qualifying capital P 5,188,304,628    P 5,027,134,017

   Risk weighted assets P 15,805,589,870 P 15,950,424,411

   Tier 1 capital ratio                32.66%                 31.34% 
   Tier 2 capital ratio  0.16%          0.18% 
 
   Risk-based capital adequacy ratio              32.83%                   31.52%

 
Further, under an existing BSP circular, commercial banks must meet a minimum capital threshold 
amounting to P2.4 billion.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Bank has satisfactorily 
complied with this externally imposed capitalization requirement.

There have been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the period.  

16.7.2 Capital Allocation

The allocation of capital between specific operations and activities is, to a large extent driven by 
optimization of the return achieved on the capital allocated.  The amount of capital allocated to 
each operation or activity is based primarily upon the regulatory capital, but in some cases the 
regulatory requirements do not reflect fully the varying degree of risk associated with different 
activities.  In such cases the capital requirements may be flexed to reflect differing risk profiles 
subject to the overall level of capital to support a particular operation or activity not falling below 
the minimum required for regulatory purposes.  The process of allocating capital to specific 
operations and activities is undertaken independently of those responsible of the operation and is 
subject to review by the ALCO.
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Although maximization of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in 
determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to particular operations or activities, it is 
not the sole basis used for decision-making.  Synergies with other operations and activities, the 
availability of management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with the Bank’s longer 
term strategic objectives are also taken into account.  The Bank’s policies in respect of capital 
management and allocation are reviewed regularly by the BOD.

17. SERVICE CHARGES, FEES AND COMMISSIONS

 This account is composed of the following:

   2012    2011 

 

  Trust fees  P 290,059,249 P 238,141,529

  Upfront fees - net  ( 19,447,889 )   52,215,504  

  Others – net   4,650,723    5,706,143  

   P 275,262,082 P 296,063,176 

Upfront fees are earned (incurred) from sold credit default swap (net of bought) in 2012 and from 
bought credit default swap (net of sold) in 2011.

18. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

 Third party information refers to service charges incurred by the Bank for market data obtained from 
service providers such as: Reuters, Prebon and Bloomberg (used in the Bank’s treasury operations).

19. OTHER EXPENSES

 This account is composed of the following:

   2012   2011  

  Custodianship fees P 15,848,148 P 10,082,382
  Security, messengerial and 
        janitorial services  14,252,990  11,050,782
  Advertising  11,341,022   12,586,306
  Transfer fees and charges  7,670,098  7,327,342
  Communication  5,628,285  5,414,705
  Repairs and maintenance   4,938,368  10,072,543
  Stationery and supplies  2,842,761  5,703,100
  Contractual services  2,631,752  3,882,494
  Courier services  2,025,506  1,666,175
  Fines, penalties and other charges  1,954,424  625,000
  Miscellaneous  3,733,659  2,979,762

  P 72,867,013 P 71,390,591
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

20.1  Salaries and Employee Benefits

The total expense recognized by the Bank for employee benefits is broken down below.

        2012   2011  
 

 Salaries and wages  P 244,908,468 P 201,253,563
 Pension – defined benefit plans   33,283,388  24,532,042
 Social security and medical benefits   6,113,110  4,714,662
 Others     499,309  1,140,743

      P 284,804,275 P 231,641,010

20.2  Post-employment Defined Benefit

The Bank maintains a tax-qualified, non-contributory retirement plan covering all regular full-time 
employees.  The plan is being administered by a trustee.  

 The Bank obtained an updated actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 to ascertain 
the amount of retirement benefit cost and the balance of the defined benefit obligation (asset) as of 
that date in accordance with PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  Actuarial valuations are obtained regularly 
to update the retirement benefit costs and the amount of contributions.

The amounts of retirement benefit obligation (asset) recognized in the statements of financial 
position and presented as part of Accrued Taxes and Other Liabilities (see Note 15), and Other 
Resources (see Note 11), respectively, follow:

         2012   2011 

   Present value of obligation  P 258,067,896   P 224,923,236 
   Fair value of plan assets   267,931,263    91,298,551 
  Deficiency (excess) of plan assets (  9,863,367 )   133,624,685 
   Unrecognized actuarial losses  (  90,260,705 ) (  103,779,742 )

        (P 100,124,072 )  P 29,844,943 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation follow:

         2012   2011 

  Balance at beginning of year  P 224,923,236   P 151,969,660 
  Current service cost   24,507,141    14,248,726
  Interest cost   14,012,718    12,476,709
   Actuarial gains (losses) on obligation (  5,375,199 )   47,873,282 
   Benefits paid   -   (  1,645,141 )
 
   Balance at end of year  P 258,067,896   P 224,923,236  
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets follow:

         2012   2011 

   Balance at beginning of year  P 91,928,551   P 75,419,292 
   Contributions   163,373,837    13,144,323
   Expected return on plan assets   8,649,273    4,058,444 
   Actuarial gains   4,609,602    321,633
   Benefits paid   -   (  1,645,141 )

   Balance at end of year  P 267,931,263   P 91,298,551

The plan assets consist mainly of debt and equity securities and deposit in banks.
     

Actual return on plan assets amounted to P13,258,875 and P4,380,077 in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The amounts of retirement benefits recognized in the statements of income follow: 

        2012   2011 
 
   Current service cost  P 24,507,141 P 14,248,726
   Interest cost      14,012,718     12,476,709 
    Expected return on plan assets   ( 8,649,273 ) (  4,058,444 )
    Net actuarial losses recognized
    during the year    2,885,324   1,865,051  
   Effect of asset limit    527,478                   -   
 

         P 33,283,388 P 24,532,042

  
 The movements in the unrecognized actuarial losses follow:

         2012   2011 

   Balance at beginning of year  P 103,779,742  P 58,093,144 

   Actuarial gains for the year – obligation (  5,375,199 )   47,873,282

   Actuarial gain for the year – plan assets (   4,609,602 ) (   321,633 )

   Actuarial losses recognized 

    during the year (  3,534,236 ) (  1,865,051 )

      Balance at end of year  P 90,260,705 P 103,779,742

In determining retirement benefits, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

        2012   2011 
 
   Discount rates     5.7%       6.2% 
   Expected rate of return on plan assets    9.0%       5.0% 
   Expected rate of salary increases         9.5%     10.0%

The Bank does not expect to contribute to the retirement benefit plan in 2013.



104 ANNUAL REPORT 2012

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Presented below are the historical information related to the present value of the retirement benefit 
obligation, fair value of plan assets and excess or deficit in the plan (amounts in thousands) as well 
as experience adjustments arising on plan assets and liabilities.

     2012   2011   2010   2009   2008 

 Present value of the obligation P 258,068 P 224,923 P 151,969 P 113,339 P 84,001
 Fair value of the plan assets  267,931  91,299  75,419  41,450  32,048

 Deficit (excess) in the plan (P 9,863 )  P 133,624   P 76,550   P 71,889   P 51,953  

 Experience adjustments 
  arising on plan liabilities (P 5,375 )  P 47,873   P 15,829    (P 9,906 )  (P 51,671 ) 
 Experience adjustments 

  arising on plan assets   4,610    323   3,059  ( 7,159 )  ( 2,010 ) 

 Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on published statistics and mortality 
tables.  The average remaining working lives of an individual retiring at the age of 60 is 22.

 The overall expected long-term rate of return on assets is 9%.  The expected long-term rate of 
return is based on the portfolio as a whole and not on the sum of the returns on individual asset 
categories.  The return is based exclusively on historical returns, without adjustments.

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The summary of the Bank’s significant transactions with its related parties as of and for the years 
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

         2012   2011  
   Related Party      Amount of    Outstanding   Amount of    Outstanding  
   Category   Notes   Transaction   Balance   Transaction   Balance 

  Parent:
   Derivative transactions   21.1(b)
    Derivative assets
     Buy: USD/PhP     $ 9,000,000 P 8,980,119 $ 4,000,000 P 1,531,697
     Buy: PhP/USD      -   -  $ 10,000,000  380,487
    Derivative liabilities
     Buy: USD/PhP     $ 9,000,000  300,308 $ 10,000,000  1,225,509
   Due from other banks   
      (net of withdrawals)   21.1(c)  P 50,769,996  67,904,271 ( P 48,558,781 )  17,134,275
   Rental    21.1(e)   22,354,754  -   5,977,640  -
   Management services   21.1(f )   860,625  -   -   -  

  Affiliate:
   Deposit liabilities   
       (net of withdrawals)   21.1(c)  (  23,340,256 )  151,532,981  83,162,136  174,873,237
  Others:
   DOSRI loans to officers   21.1(a)   2,000,000  2,000,000 (  25,927,113 )  - 
   Loans from retirement fund   21.1(d)   1,378,373  858,339      
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 21.1 Nature of Related Party Transactions

The significant transactions conducted by the Bank with related parties in the normal course of 
business are described below.

 
(a) The outstanding balance of DOSRI loans is presented under Loans and Receivables account 

in the 2012 statement of financial position.  Relative to this DOSRI loans, the following 
additional information in 2012 is also presented:

   Total outstanding DOSRI loans     P    2,000,000
   Total past due DOSRI loans                - 
   Total non-performing DOSRI loans                - 
   % to total loan portfolio      0.1% 
   % of unsecured DOSRI loans to 
    total DOSRI loans                - 
   % of past due DOSRI loans to 
    total DOSRI loans                - 

(b) In 2012 and 2011, the Bank entered into currency forward transactions with BDO Unibank.  
The outstanding derivative assets and liabilities are shown as part of Trading and Investment 
Securities at Fair value through profit or loss account and Derivative Financial Liabilities 
account in statements of financial position (see Notes 6 and 14).

(c) The Bank holds demand deposits from BDO Securities Corporation, an affiliate, with annual interest 
rates ranging from 0.10% to 2.75% and from 15.00% to 3.25% in 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

The Bank maintains deposits with BDO Unibank and are included as part of Due from 
Other Banks in the statements of financial position (see Note 5.2).  The interest rates on these 
deposits ranged from 0.25% to 2.00% per annum in 2012 and 2011.

(d) During 2012, the Bank’s retirement fund released loans to the Bank’s employees with an 
interest rate of 9.00% per annum.

Whereas, details on the contributions made by the Bank to the retirement fund are presented 
in Note 20.2.

(e) The lease agreement with BDO Unibank for a monthly rental of P1,619,255 was renewed 
on October 16, 2011.  Total expense incurred pertaining to this agreement is presented under 
Occupancy account in the statements of income.

(f ) In March 2012, the BSP approved the outsourcing of several functions to BDO Unibank.  
The arrangement will allow the Bank to tap the resources and expertise of BDO Unibank in 
the areas covered by the new agreement, specifically in the Bank’s asset management, central 
operations, human resources management, information technology, internal audit services 
and risk management.  Total expense incurred pertaining to this contract is presented under 
Management and Professional Fees account in the 2012 statement of income.  There are no 
similar transaction in 2011.
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21.2 Key Management Personnel Compensation

The total salaries and short-term benefits received by key management personnel amounted to 
P102.5 million and P90.6 million in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

22. TAXES

22.1 Current and Deferred Taxes

The components of tax expense for the years ended December 31 follow:

        2012   2011 
  
  Current tax expense:
   Final tax at 20%, 10% and 7.5%  P 77,809,462  P 65,588,903
   Regular corporate income tax 
    (RCIT) at 30% - RBU   16,921,296    -  
   RCIT at 30% - FCDU    12,809,379    13,566,923
   Minimum corporate income
    tax (MCIT) at 2% - RBU   -     1,184,416 
        107,540,137     80,340,242
  Deferred tax expense (income)
   relating to origination and reversal 
    of temporary differences  (   39,269,294 )   24,963,443
  Application of previously
    unrecognized MCIT  ( 16,921,296 )   - 

  Tax expense reported in the     
   statements of income  P 51,349,547   P 105,303,685

Current taxes include corporate income tax and final taxes paid on income from FCDU and final 
withholding tax on gross interest income from debt securities and other deposit substitutes.

 
Effective July 2009, RA No. 9504 was approved giving corporate taxpayers an option to claim 
itemized deductions or optional standard deduction (OSD) equivalent to 40% of gross income.  
Once the option to use OSD is made, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which the 
option was made.

In 2012 and 2011, the Bank opted to continue claiming itemized deductions.

The Bank is also subject to percentage and other taxes which consist principally of gross receipts 
tax or GRT (presented as part of Taxes and Licenses in the statements of income).
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The reconciliation of tax on pre-tax income computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax 
expense attributable to continuing operations follows:

 
        2012       2011    

  

  Tax on pretax income at 30%  P 159,440,083  P 195,340,934

  Adjustment for income subjected to

   lower tax rates  (  49,576,952 ) (  63,673,099 )

  Tax effects of:

   Income from FCDU  (  69,353,224 )   (  60,917,869 )

   Nondeductible expenses    64,030,629    69,697,589   

   Income exempted from income taxes  (  36,520,974 ) (  41,108,900 )   

   Application of previously 

    unrecognized MCIT  (  16,921,296 )   - 

   Unrecognized DTA of

    impairment losses    251,281    393,196 

   Expiration of previously recognized 

    net operating loss carryover

    (NOLCO)   -   8,906,853

   Effect of recognition of previously 

    unrecognized DTA   -   ( 4,519,435 ) 

   Unrecognized MCIT   -   1,184,416

  Tax expense reported in the      

   statements of income   P 51,349,547   P 105,303,685 

 
The net deferred tax assets (included as part of Other Resources – see Note 11) as of December 31 
relate to the following:

       Statements of financial position   Statements of income 
       2012   2011   2012   2011 
       
  Deferred tax assets
   Unamortized past service cost P 37,528,520 P 241,587  P 37,286,933  ( P 207,074 )
   Unrealized loss on trading            
    securities    30,169,168  -    30,169,168    -  
   Accrued expenses    7,034,583  -    7,034,583    -
   NOLCO    -   70,309,703 (  70,309,703 )   61,402,850 
   Retirement payable    -     8,953,483 (  8,953,483 )   8,953,483 
    
  Deferred tax liabilities         
   Retirement asset  ( 30,073,652 )  -  (  30,073,652 )  -
   Unrealized foreign exchange
     gains   ( 1,476,936 ) ( 26,478,252 )   25,001,316  ( 51,468,552 )
   Unrealized gain on trading
     securities     -   ( 49,114,132 )   49,114,132  (  43,644,150 )

  Net deferred tax assets  P 43,181,683 P 3,912,389
  Deferred tax income (expense)          P 39,269,294  (P 24,963,443 )

The Bank is subject to RCIT which is computed at 30% of net income, as defined under tax 
regulations.  In 2012, the Bank is subject to RCIT on its RBU since RCIT was higher than the 
MCIT while in 2011, the Bank is subject to MCIT on its RBU since the MCIT was higher than 
the RCIT.
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The details of unrecognized deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 
   

       2012   2011 
       Amount   Tax Effect   Amount   Tax Effect 
          
  Allowance for impairment 
  losses   P 110,517,541 P 33,155,262 P 118,176,573 P 35,452,972  
 MCIT        296,821  296,821       17,218,117  17,218,117

      P 110,814,362 P 33,452,083 P 135,394,690 P 52,671,089  
  

NOLCO carried over from prior years amounted to P234,365,678.  In 2012, all of the Bank’s 
NOLCO was applied.

 The composition of and movements in the Bank’s MCIT follow:

        Applied 
        Expired in   Remaining   Valid
  Year   Amount   Current Year   Balance   Until    
  
  2011  P 1,184,416 P 887,595 P 296,821  2014  
  2010   7,437,308  7,437,308  -   2013
  2009   8,596,393  8,596,393  -   2012

    P 17,218,117 P 16,921,296 P 296,821

 
22.2 Supplemental Information Required By the Bureau of Internal Revenue

 
On December 9, 2011, the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued RR 19-2011 which prescribes 
the new form that will be used for income tax filing covering and starting with periods ending 
December 31, 2011 and onwards.  This recent RR requires schedules of taxable revenues and other 
non-operating income, costs of sales and services, and itemized deductions, to be disclosed in the 
notes to financial statements.   

The amounts of taxable revenues and income, and deductible costs and expenses are presented 
separately from the basic financial statements and are based on relevant tax regulations issued by 
the BIR, hence, these may not be the same as the amounts reflected in the 2012 statement
of income.

On November 25, 2010, the BIR issued RR No. 15-2010, which requires certain information on 
taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year to be disclosed as part of the 
notes to financial statements.  

The supplementary information is, however, not a required part of the basic financial statements 
prepared in accordance with financial reporting standards in the Philippines for banks; it is 
neither a required disclosure under the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission rules and 
regulations covering form and content of financial statements under Securities Regulation
Code Rule 68.
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The Bank presented this tax information required by the BIR as a supplementary schedule filed 
separately from the basic financial statements.

23. TRUST OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the following securities and other properties held by the 
Bank in fiduciary or agency capacity (for a fee amounting to P290.1 million and P238.1 million, 
respectively, presented as part of Service Charges, Fees and Commissions in the statements of 
income) for its customers are not included in the accompanying statements of financial position 
since these are not resources of the Bank:

               2012              2011 
 
  Cash    P 69,076,684,367 P 1,899,553,264
  Investments       78,864,547,570             104,385,985,114 
  Real estate      1,627,053,797  1,454,678,972
  Others       1,550,428,176        1,322,474,598
   

    P 151,118,713,910    P      109,062,691,948

The trust operations of the Bank relate mainly to management of funds.

Certain government bonds owned by the Bank are deposited with the BSP, as mentioned in Note 8.

24. ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

The Bank manages certain investments in special deposit accounts, debt securities, equity securities 
and other assets on behalf of its clients.  Some of these assets under management (AUM) are 
included in the financial statements as an asset or liability of the Bank, whereas the remainder are 
accounts held in trust or held for safekeeping for the Bank’s clients and have been excluded from the 
accompanying statements of financial position.

The composition of the Bank’s AUM as of December 31 is set out in the following table
(amounts in millions):

    2012    2011  

  On - Statement of financial position  P 13,548  P 20,229 
  Off - Statement of financial position   190,967    148,053 

    P 204,515 P 168,282

The Bank earns fees in return for its investment facilitation services.  For the years ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011, the Bank recognized P291.2 million and P241.7 million, respectively, in AUM-related fees and 
other income (including trust fees), which are distributed among various accounts presented as part of Service 
charges, fees and commissions in the statements of income.
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25. SELECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following are some of the financial performance indicators of the Bank:

        2012   2011  
  Return on average equity   

  Net profit                                   9.2%    11.4%
   Average total capital accounts  

  Return on average common equity

   Net profit                            51.1%   58.1%
   Average common equity
    
  Return on average resources 

   Net profit                         2.2%   2.4%
   Average total resources

Net interest margin    

   Net interest income                  2.9%   3.0%
   Average interest-earning resources

  Net income margin ratio

   Net income x 100      30.2%   31.9%
   Total revenues

  Current ratio

   Current resources           136.8%   112.6%
   Current liabilities

  Cost to income ratio

   Operating cost           64.1%   60.5%
   Operating income

  Debt to equity ratio

   Total Liabilities           3.1:1   4.6:1
   Total Equity
  
  Asset to equity ratio

   Total Resources         4.1:1   5.6:1
   Total Equity
       

Interest rate coverage

   Earnings before interest and taxes               2.8:1         2.7:1   
   Interest expense

  Capital to risk assets ratio*

   Combined credit, market and
   operational risk                                                     33.1%            31.5%

 * Computed using balances prepared under FRSP for banks
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26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Bank:

(a) The Bank has been a party to a lease agreement with a third party covering its office premises, 
the term of which ended in October 2011.  Further, in October 2011 the Bank entered into 
a lease agreement with a related party for the lease of its new office for a period of five years, 
renewable upon agreement by the parties.  The future minimum rentals payable under these 
operating leases amounted to P126,464,024 and P123,161,066 as of December 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively. 

Rent expense, which is shown as part of Occupancy in the statements of income, amounted to 
P30,491,757 and P33,472,292  in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

(b) In the normal course of its operations, the Bank has various outstanding commitments and 
contingent liabilities such as guarantees, commitments to extend credit, etc., which are not 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements.  The Bank recognizes in its books any losses 
and liabilities incurred in the course of its operations as soon as these become known

 and quantifiable.
  

As of December 31, 2012, the Bank’s management believes that losses, if any, from the 
commitments and contingencies will not have a material effect on the Bank’s financial statements.

The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent accounts as
of December 31:

       Notes       2012                 2011 
 
    Trust department accounts  23  P  151,118,713,910 P 109,062,691,948
    Cross currency swap receivable  14    26,732,556,250  26,033,801,177
    Cross currency swap payable  14    26,732,556,250  26,033,801,177
    Interest rate swap receivable  14    200,000,000  788,400,000
    Interest rate swap payable  14    200,000,000  538,400,000
    Forward exchange sold  14    164,627,959  217,195,559
    Forward exchange bought  14    164,627,959  215,732,732
    Loan commitments     112,826,900  1,321,192,659
    Spot exchange sold     20,527,500  39,384,102
   
       P  205,446,436,728 P 164,250,899,354
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The Capital-To-Risk Assets Ratio of the Bank as reported to the 
BSP, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, 

  

are shown in the table below.   
   
 2012 2011 
    

Tier 1 capital  5,190,459,460   5,035,570,104  
Tier 2 capital  26,027,538   28,188,138  

Gross qualifying capital  5,216,486,998   5,063,758,242  
Less: Required deductions  28,182,370   36,624,225  

Total qualifying capital  5,188,304,628   5,027,134,017  
   

Credit risk-weighted assets  12,523,156,083   12,637,129,087  
Market risk-weighted assets  711,096,939   1,124,541,247  

Operational risk-weighted assets  2,571,336,848   2,188,754,077  
Risk weighted assets  15,805,589,870   15,950,424,411  

   
Total capital ratio 32.83% 31.52% 

Tier 1 capital ratio 32.66% 31.34% 
   
The regulatory qualifying capital of the Bank consists of Tier 1 (core) 

capital which includes paid-up common and preferred, surplus 
including current year profit, and surplus reserves, less deduction for  
deferred income tax.  The other component of regulatory capital is 

Tier 2 (supplementary) capital, which is the general loan loss 
provision. 

  

   
The components of Tier 1 capital and deductions are shown below:   

   
 2012 2011 
    

Tier 1 capital   
Paid-up common stock  940,000,000   940,000,000  

Paid-up perpetual and non-cumulative preferred stock  1,225,000,000   1,225,000,000  
Retained earnings  3,028,812,341   2,871,973,532  

Cumulative foreign currency translation  (3,352,882)  (1,403,428) 
    Sub-total  5,190,459,460   5,035,570,104  

Less deduction:   
  Deferred income tax  28,182,370   36,624,225  

Total Tier 1 capital  5,162,277,090   4,998,945,879  

   
   
   
   

 
 

  

The Capital-to-Risk Assets Ratio of the Bank as reported to the BSP, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, 
are shown in the table below.
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 The components of Tier 2 capital are shown below: 
   
 2012 2011 
    

Tier 2 capital   
General loan loss provision  26,027,538   28,188,138  

Total Tier 2 capital  26,027,538   28,188,138  

   
   
   

Risk-weighted assets by type of exposure as of December 31, 2012 
and 2011 consist of the following: 

  

   
 2012 2011 

     
Credit Risk   

On -Balance Sheet  11,231,264,612   10,934,058,397  
Off -Balance Sheet  22,565,380   -  0  

Counterparty (Trading Book)  1,269,326,091   1,703,070,690  
Total  12,523,156,083   12,637,129,087  

Capital Requirements  1,252,315,608   1,263,712,909  

   
   
 2012 2011 

     
Market Risk   

Interest Rate Exposures  707,583,962   1,123,710,240  
Foreign Exchange Exposures  3,512,977   831,007  

Total  711,096,939   1,124,541,247  
Capital Requirements  71,109,694   112,454,125  

   
   
 2012 2011 

     
Operational Risk   

Basic Indicator  2,571,336,848   2,188,754,077  
Total  2,571,336,848   2,188,754,077  

Capital Requirements  257,133,685   218,875,408  

   
Risk-weighted on-balance sheet assets covered by credit risk 
mitigants were based on collateralized transactions as well as 

guarantees by the Philippine National Government. 

  

   
Standardized credit risk weights were used in the credit assessment of 
asset exposures.  Third party credit assessments were based on ratings 
of Standard and Poor's, Moody's, Fitch and PhilRatings on exposures 

to sovereigns, MDBs, LGUs, Government Corporations and 
Corporates. 
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MANAGEMENT
DIRECTORY

As of December 31, 2012

President and Director 

Josefina N. Tan

TREASURY

Executive Vice President

and Treasurer
Bienvenido M. Juat, Jr.

Senior Asst. Vice President
Ma. Cecilia T. Abola

Asst. Vice President
Pamela Kristine L. Lopez

RELATIONSHIP

MANAGEMENT

Executive Vice President
Stella L. Cabalatungan

Senior Vice President
Jonathan T. Cua

First Vice Presidents
Sonia Maribel D. Go
Judy L. Go
Arlene Marie H. Uson

Vice Presidents
Jose Rene C. Carlos
Leticia T. Chua
Cheryll B. Gaviño
Ma. Clotilde G. Medalla
Francis Jay F. Nacino
Ma. Elena I. Rigor
Eleanor D. Wee
Beatriz Y. Zalazar

Senior Assistant  Vice Presidents
Rossana C. Chan
Michele Y. Lao
Christy K. Ortega

Assistant Vice Presidents
Catherine S. Choa
Anna Patricia A. Dee
Frances Ruth T. Palacios
Ranvel Erik T. Rufino
Donna Marie C. Uy
Avery U. Yu

WEALTH ADVISORY & TRUST

Senior Vice Presidents

and Trust Officer
Gamalielh A. O. Benavides

Deputy Trust Officer
Jose Noel M. Mendoza

First Vice Presidents
Juan Sabino P. Lizares
Ma. Clarissa M. Peñalosa

Vice Presidents
Edlyn L. Quiroz
Steven C. Te

SeniorAssistant Vice Presidents
Lilli Ann D.S. Bautista
Abigail Kathryn l. Chiw 
Rowena Remedios I. Estrella
Maria Vilma D. Fabian
Michael Geronimo G. Martin
Evelyn K. Sy
Blandina Uvyhilda B. Vicente
Ramon Fortunato S. Ybiernas



115www.bdo.com.ph

FINANCIAL CONTROL

First Vice President
Agnes B. Santos

Vice President
Mary Grace O. Lojo

Assistant Vice President
Maria Lourdes M. Sevilla

OPERATIONS

Senior Vice President
Martin B. Ordoñez

Vice President
Ma. Ramona T. Torres

LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE

First Vice President
Federico P. Tancongco

RISK MANAGEMENT

Vice President
Maria Teresita R. Dean

Assistant Vice President
Rachelle T. Guiang

HUMAN RESOURCES

& ADMINISTRATION

Vice President
Ma. Remedios B. Lapuz

BUSINESS SUPPORT

Assistant Vice President
Maria Sheila O. Andes
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PRODUCTS
AND SERVICES

WEALTH ADVISORY

PESO AND FOREIGN 
CURRENCY SETTLEMENT 
ACCOUNTS

Financial Planning
Strategic Investment Advisory
Investment Management
     Asset Allocation
     Portfolio Construction
     Investment Selection

Multi-Currency Deposits
Foreign Exchange
Multi-Currency Fixed Income Securities
Derivatives

TRUST

     Estate Planning Advisory
          Living Trust
               Estate Trust Settlement
       Professional Pension Trust
  Revertible Wealth Trust
  Educational Trust
  Other Special Purpose Trust
          Non Living Trust
  Testamentary Trust
       Trusteeship Under Will
          Life Insurance Trust     
          Legacy, Endowment Charitable Trust
          Special Trust
               Fiduciary Heir under Trust
               Usufruct under Trust
               Guardianship Trust 

AGENCY AND SPECIAL SERVICES

    Paying / Collecting Agency
    Administration
    Executorship
    Estate Protection Custody
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BDO PRIVATE 
BANK OFFICES

MAIN OFFICE:

PRIVATE BANK LOUNGES

Mezzanine & 2nd Floor, BDO Equitable Tower 
8751 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City

Trunk Line: 848-6300

GREENHILLS

Mezzanine Floor, 209 Ortigas Ave.
Greenhills, San Juan, Metro Manila

Direct Lines: 702-6290 / 721-0042

BINONDO

9th Floor, BDO Dasmariñas Bldg.
Dasmariñas corner Marquina Streets
Binondo, Manila

Direct Lines:  
243-0224 / 244-9019 / 243-3844

ALABANG

7th Floor, Tower 2, Insular Life Corporate Center, Insular Drive
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City

Direct Lines: 
771-2381 / 771-2383

CEBU

14th Floor Cebu Tower, Mindanao corner Bohol Avenues
Cebu Business Park, Cebu City

Direct Lines: 
(032) 236-6769 / 236-4648 / 236-6177

DAVAO

 2nd Floor, BDO Bldg.
383 C.M. Recto St., Davao City

Direct Line: 
(082) 225-5003
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